## An in-depth analysis of the risk factors, treatments and outcomes of in-hospital acute myocardial infarctions: Results from the RHESA Study

Thesis

to obtain the academic degree of

Doctor rerum medicarum (Dr. rer. medic.)

in the field of Clinical Epidemiology

submitted to the Faculty of Medicine of

Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg

by Mohamad Assaf, M.D.

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Rafael Mikolajczyk

**Reviewers:** 

1. PD Dr. Prof. Dr. Marcus Dörr, Greifswald

2. Prof. Dr. Prof. Dr. Christian Schulze, Jena

Date of defense: 21.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Introduction**: Few studies reported differences in the patients' characteristics and outcomes between out-of-hospital and in-hospital acute myocardial infarctions (AMI). There is a lack of focused analyses on in-hospital Non-ST-segment myocardial infarction (NSTEMI), although it contributes to the majority of the in-hospital AMI cases. In addition, little is known about the treatment strategy and determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMI. The aims of this thesis were to identify the proportion of in-hospital AMI cases in The Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA), and examine if the previously identified differences between in-and out-of-hospital STEMI are observed when including NSTEMI as well. In addition, we aimed to provide new insights about risk factors and outcomes of in-hospital NSTEMI as well as predictors of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMI.

**Methods**: Our analyses were based on data from the RHESA registry (2013–2019). First, included AMI cases were divided into two groups: in-hospital vs. out-of-hospital. Patients' characteristics, treatments and outcomes were compared based on AMI type. Second, a focused analysis on NSTEMI was performed to examine if the published findings for STEMI apply for NSTEMI as well. Finally, an analysis including in-hospital AMI only was conducted to examine the differences between patients treated with an invasive intervention and those treated conservatively to identify predictors of the treatment strategy. The main outcome in all of the analyses was 30-day mortality.

**Results**: 11% of the included AMI cases were in-hospital. Patients with in-hospital AMI were older and more comorbid than patients with out-of-hospital AMI. In-hospital AMI was an independent predictor of 30-day mortality (OR = 1.92, 95% CI: [1.52-2.46]). In the analysis including NSTEMI only, we found that 14% of the 2123 cases were in-hospital. Patients with in-hospital NSTEMI were more likely to be older than 75 years and more comorbid than those with out-of-hospital NSTEMI. In-hospital NSTEMI was also an independent predictor of 30-day morality (OR = 1.62, 95% CI: [1.15- 2.49]). Finally, in the analysis including only patients with in-hospital AMI (N = 259), two thirds of the patients were treated with an invasive intervention. Determinants of conservative treatment were older age, higher heart rate upon presentation, history of heart failure and STEMI. Invasive intervention was associated with lower 30-day mortality (OR = 0.25, 95% CI: [0.10-0.67]).

**Conclusions**: This thesis provides insight on the full spectrum of in-hospital AMI. The established differences between in-hospital and out-of-hospital STEMI are observed for NSTEMI also, but in-hospital NSTEMI is more prevalent. Some determinants of the treatment strategy for in-hospital AMI are consistent with those of out-of-hospital AMI, but invasive intervention lowered the odds of 30-day mortality.

Assaf, Mohamad: An in-depth analysis of the risk factors, treatments and outcomes of in-hospital acute myocardial infarctions: Results from the RHESA Study, Halle (Saale), Univ. Med. Fac., Diss., 20 pages, 2024

#### Referat

**Einleitung:** Bisherige Studien konzentrierten sich vornehmlich auf Myokardinfarkte mit ST-Strecken-Hebung (STEMI). Es mangelt daher an gezielten Analysen zum innerklinischen Nicht-ST-Hebungs-Myokardinfarkt (NSTEMI), obwohl dieser die Mehrheit der innerklinischen akuten Infarkte (AMI) ausmacht. Darüber hinaus ist nur wenig über die Behandlungsstrategie und die Determinanten der invasiven Intervention bei Patienten mit innerklinischem AMI bekannt. Ziel dieser Arbeit ist es, den Anteil der innerklinischen Fälle im Regionalen Myokardinfarkt-Register Sachsen-Anhalt (RHESA) zu ermitteln und zu untersuchen, ob die bisherigen beobachteten Unterschiede zwischen innerklinischem und außerklinischem STEMI auch bei NSTEMI zu beobachten sind. Darüber hinaus sollen neue Erkenntnisse über die Risikofaktoren und Outcomes des innerklinischen NSTEMI sowie über die Prädiktoren für eine invasive Intervention bei Patienten mit innerklinischen AMI gewonnen werden.

**Methoden**: Die eingeschlossenen AMI-Fälle wurden in zwei Gruppen unterteilt: innerklinisch vs. außerklinisch. Die Patienteneigenschaften, Behandlungen und Outcomes wurden je nach AMI-Typ verglichen. Eine auf NSTEMI fokussierte Analyse wurde durchgeführt, um zu untersuchen, ob die bereits bekannten Ergebnisse für STEMI auch für NSTEMI gelten. Schließlich wurde eine Analyse durchgeführt, die sich nur auf innerklinischen AMI bezog, um die Unterschiede zwischen Patienten, die mit einem invasiven Eingriff behandelt wurden, und solchen, die konservativ behandelt wurden, zu untersuchen und Prädiktoren für die Behandlungsstrategie zu ermitteln.

**Ergebnisse**: 11 % der eingeschlossenen AMI-Fälle waren innerklinisch. Patienten mit innerklinischen AMI waren älter und wiesen mehr Komorbiditäten auf. Der innerklinische AMI war ein unabhängiger Prädiktor für die 30-Tage-Mortalität (OR = 1,92; 95% KI: [1,52-2,46]). Bei der Analyse, die nur den NSTEMI einschloss, wurde festgestellt, dass 14 % der 2123 Fälle im Krankenhaus auftraten. Patienten mit innerklinischem NSTEMI waren mit größerer Wahrscheinlichkeit älter als 75 Jahre und wiesen mehr Komorbiditäten auf als Patienten mit außerklinischem NSTEMI. Innerklinischer NSTEM war auch ein unabhängiger Prädiktor für die 30-Tage-Mortalität (OR= 1,62; 95% KI: [1,15- 2,49]). Schließlich ergab die Analyse, die nur Patienten mit AMI im Krankenhaus einschloss, dass zwei Drittel der Patienten mit einem invasiven Eingriff behandelt wurden. Determinanten einer konservativen Behandlung waren ein höheres Alter, eine höhere Herzfrequenz bei der Vorstellung, eine Herzinsuffizienz in der Vorgeschichte, und ein STEMI. Die Chance für 30-Tage-Mortalität war niedriger bei Patienten mit einem invasiven Eingriff (OR= 0,25; 95%KI: [0,10-0,67]).

**Schlussfolgerungen**: Diese Arbeit gibt einen Einblick in das gesamte Spektrum des innerklinischen AMI. Die festgestellten Unterschiede zwischen innerklinischem und außerklinischem STEMI gelten auch für den NSTEMI, wobei innerklinischer NSTEMI jedoch häufiger vorkommt als der STEMI. Einige Determinanten der Behandlungsstrategie bei AMI im Krankenhaus stimmen mit denen bei AMI außerhalb des Krankenhauses überein, aber invasive Eingriffe waren mit einer niedrigeren 30-Tage-Mortalität assoziiert. Assaf, Mohamad: Eine vertiefte Analyse der Risikofaktoren, Behandlungen und Outcomes von akuten Myokardinfarkten im Krankenhaus: Ergebnisse der RHESA-Studie, Halle (Saale), Univ. Med. Fac., Diss., 20 Seiten, 2024

## Table of contents

Abstract	
Referat	
Table of contents	
List of abbreviations	
1 Introduction and Objectives	1
1.1 New definition of acute myocardial infarctions (AMI)	1
1.2 Epidemiology of AMI	1
1.3 High AMI mortality in Saxony-Anhalt and the need for a regional AMI registry	2
1.4 Clinical presentation, risk factors and mortality of AMI	3
1.5 Acute management of AMI	3
1.6 Outcomes of AMI	4
1.7 Post-AMI management	5
1.8 AMI classifications	6
1.9 In-hospital AMI is a high-risk subgroup of AMI	7
1.10 Research questions	8
2 Discussion	10
2.1 Consistency in the reported proportions of in-hospital AMI	11
2.2 Heterogeneity of patients with in-hospital AMI	12
2.3 In-hospital NSTEMI poses a bigger challenge than in-hospital STEMI	12
2.4 Interplay among the various classifications of AMI	13
2.5 Factors contributing to worse clinical outcomes in in-hospital AMI	14
2.6 The need to optimize acute and long-term management of in-hospital AMI	15
2.7 Regional differences and in-hospital AMI	16
2.8 Availability of a cardiac catheter laboratory is not associated with the treatment strategy of in-hospital AMI	16
2.9 The advantages of a registry-based study to provide initial information about in-	17
2.10 Strengths and limitations	18
2.11 Conclusions	20
3 References	21
4 Theses	26

5 Publications	28
Publication 1 (P1)	30
Publication 2 (P2)	43
Publication 3 (P3)	59
6 Declaration of Independence	Ι
7 Declaration of previous doctoral attempts und	II
8 Acknowledgements	III

### List of abbreviations

AMI: acute myocardial infarction WHO: World Health Organization EKG: electrocardiogram ESC: European Society of Cardiology ACC: American College of Cardiology AHA: American Heart Association WHF: World Heart Federation IHD: ischemic heart disease AMITIE: The Acute Myocardial Infarction Trends in Europe Study PCI: percutaneous coronary intervention RHESA: the regional heart attack registry in Saxony-Anhalt (Das Regionale Herzinfarktregister Sachsen-Anhalt) BMI: body mass index STEMI: ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction NSTEMI: Non- ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction CKD: chronic kidney disease CABG: coronary artery bypass surgery GRACE: Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events TIMI: Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction

CAD: coronary artery disease

ACS: acute coronary syndrome

ACEI: Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors

ARB: Angiotensin receptor blockers

- NSTE-ACS: Non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome
- RCT: randomized-controlled trials
- GAM: Generalized Additive Models
- DAG: directed acylic graphs

#### **1** Introduction and Objectives

#### 1.1 New definition of acute myocardial infarctions (AMI)

In the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, the World Health Organization (WHO) put forth a universal definition for acute myocardial infractions (AMI) based on electrocardiogram (EKG) findings (1). The definition passed through several modification and adjustment rounds resulting in the recent Fourth Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction Consensus Document, established by the Global MI TASK Force. The task force is comprised of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), the American College of Cardiology (ACC), the American Heart Association (AHA) and World Heart Federation (WHF). In summary, any evidence of myocardial ischemia in addition to abnormal changes in cardiac biomarkers corresponding to acute myocardial injury (i.e. elevated or decreased cardiac Troponin level at least one value above the 99<sup>th</sup> percentile of the upper reference limit) is clinically defined as AMI (1, 2).

#### 1.2 Epidemiology of AMI

A study analyzing trends of ischemic heart diseases (IHD) in 20 Western European countries showed that incidence and mortality in central European countries are higher compared to Mediterranean and Nordic countries (3). As for AMI specifically, the global prevalence in adults younger than 60 years reached nearly 4%, and in adults older than 60 years 10% (4). The Acute Myocardial Infarction Trends in Europe Study (AMITIE) aimed to analyze the trends of AMI prevalence and mortality in six European countries (including Germany) over 25 years (5). The study reported a general reduction in the rate of AMI attacks and mortality as well as in case-fatality, after stratifying for population, age and sex. An exception to this trend was seen in older women, where the case-fatality increased (5). Interestingly, mortality in the German population was among the highest.

From 2008-2011, the lifetime prevalence of AMI in Germany for individuals aged between 40 and 79 years was 5% among women vs. 7% among men (6). There has been a decreasing trend in the age- and sex-adjusted incidence of AMI in-hospital mortality, from 65 cases/1000 Person-Year in 2005 to 55 cases/1000 person-year in 2015 (7). Another study reported that between 2011-2020, there was a 27% reduction in the age-standardized mortality of AMI in men, and 33% in women (8).

# **1.3 High AMI mortality in Saxony-Anhalt and the need for a regional AMI registry**

According to the German Heart report (8), the age and sex-standardized hospitalization for AMI in 2020 was 213/100000 persons. Saxony-Anhalt showed one of the highest rates of AMI hospitalization in 2020 (reaching 225/100000 persons) in comparison with the other 15 federal states. This was also true for AMI mortality, which reached 66.3/100000 persons in 2020. Various factors can explain the high morbidity and mortality of AMI in this federal state. The prevalence of AMI risk factors in Saxony-Anhalt is higher than in other German states. These include hypertension, diabetes, central obesity as well as smoking, lower educational level, and unemployment (9). Additionally, healthcare services for AMI patients in this state may be suboptimal as the numbers of cardiologists, certified as percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) centers and chest pain units are lower than the national average. In fact, the density of cardiology care services in Saxony-Anhalt in 2020 was among the lowest in Germany (26000 inhabitants per cardiologist vs. 15000 inhabitants per cardiologist in Bremen, for example) (8). Finally, factors related to delivery of the healthcare services may in this federal state be inadequate as indicated by delays in clinical presentation and time to treatment (10).

Within this context, The Regional Heart Attack Registry in Saxony-Anhalt (Regionales Herzinfarktregister Sachsen-Anhalt, RHESA) (10, 11) was founded in 2012. The aim was to identify risk factors associated with the high AMI mortality in the region, and to explore potential targets for intervention in order to improve the healthcare outcomes. The population-based registry includes all fatal and no-fatal AMI-cases in adults aged 25 years or older and residing in Halle (urban region) or Altmark (rural region).

Sixteen different hospitals, three health departments, and centers for rescue services participate in the registry. Investigations and analyses are carried out by the Institute of Medical Epidemiology, Biometrics and Informatics at the Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Germany. The registry identified AMI based on The Third Universal Definition of AMI (12). Study nurses and trained physicians were responsible for collecting, via a questionnaire, the patients' characteristics, including demographic factors, body mass index (BMI) and preexisting comorbidities, smoking status and other factors (described in more detail elsewhere) (10). The questionnaire included additionally information related to AMI onset such as location of onset (in-hospital or out-of-hospital), EKG classification, acute medical and procedural treatments, in-hospital complications, mortality and discharge medications for survivors.

#### 1.4 Clinical presentation, risk factors and mortality of AMI

The most common symptom if AMI is chest pain or tightness, usually lasting longer than 15 minutes. The chest pain might radiate to the neck, jaw, arms, retrosternal area or epigastrium. Some of the commonly associated symptoms include dyspnea, nausea and vomiting, or sweating. A considerable proportion of patients, nearly 20%, may have a silent or atypical presentation (17). This is true for diabetic persons and those in the older ager groups, especially women. Atypical AMI presentation may also be experienced by patients with multiple comorbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease (CKD), and heart failure (17-20).

Various risk factors for AMI have been identified, including demographic, clinical, psychosocial, and lifestyle factors. Older age is associated with a higher risk of AMI incidence and mortality (13). When it comes to sex, incidence of AMI is reported to be higher among men (14, 15). However, women have a higher risk of AMI-attributed mortality and complications (16, 17), and this may be especially true for those in the younger age groups (18, 19). It also is well established that women experience AMI at a later age compared to men (20). Other major factors contributing to AMI and higher AMI mortality include modifiable risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, obesity, smoking, sedentary lifestyle and substance abuse (21-27). Furthermore, symptoms of depression and anxiety as well as panic disorders are positively associated with AMI mortality (28-30). Lower education levels and lower income are also associated with higher odds of short and long-term AMI mortality (31-33). This may be true even in countries with universal health coverage (32, 33).

#### 1.5 Acute management of AMI

The European Society of Cardiology (ESC) (34, 35) recommends initial treatment of patients with a working diagnosis of AMI with Acetylsalicylic acid +/- P2Y12-inhibitor as well as anticoagulants. There are separate recommendations for the reperfusion therapy of AMI based on the EKG classification. In the case of ST-segment elevation AMI (STEMI), the default management is with PCI, preferably performed within 120 minutes from the time of diagnosis. If PCI is not possible in this time window, fibrinolysis can be a suitable alternative. Emergency coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG) is reserved for cases with inadequate anatomy for PCI or mechanical complications.

For patients with Non-ST-segment elevation AMI (NSTEMI), risk assessment and stratification should inform the urgency and timing of invasive intervention (34, 36). These patients can be

classified into three risk groups: low, high and very high-risk. Immediate (within 2 hours) invasive intervention with PCI should be performed in cases of very high-risk NSTEMI. This group of patients is characterized by hemodynamic instability, potentially fatal arrhythmias, mechanical complications and recurrent angina pectoris despite treatment, or recurrent ischemic changes on ECG. PCI is also recommended for patients with high-risk NSTEMI and an early invasive intervention within 24 hours should be considered. High-risk criteria include: changes in high-sensitivity cardiac troponin corresponding to NSTEMI, transient or dynamic changes of the ST-segment on EKG or a Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events (GRACE) score higher than 140. For low-risk cases, ESC concluded that the evidence regarding the optimal timing for invasive intervention and the superiority of routine vs selective invasive intervention remains unclear. Therefore, an individualized assessment would be required. In patients who fail to meet any of the criteria for high or very high-risk stratification, clinical assessment as well as the degree of suspicion of unstable angina guide the need for invasive treatment. In case unstable angina is high on the differential diagnosis, a selective intervention is recommended (34).

According to the 2020 ESC guidelines (36), not opting for PCI in NSTEMI patients with severe CAD is a major risk factor for in-hospital and long-term cardiovascular mortality. A conservative treatment should be restricted to cases with high risk/benefit ratio due to anatomical or medical causes. In such cases, secondary prevention is of utmost importance to mitigate the very high-risk of recurrence of ischemic events.

#### **1.6 Outcomes of AMI**

An analysis of data from the Federal Bureau of Statistics in Germany showed a decrease in the age and sex adjusted incidence of AMI in-hospital mortality from 65 cases/1000 person-year in 2005 to 55 cases/1000 person-year in 2015 (7). Moreover, in the year 2020, the age and sex-standardized hospitalization rate of AMI was 213/100 000 persons, and the standardized mortality was 48/100 000 persons (8).

Due to advances in treatment of AMI a, there is a decreasing trend of the subsequent complications, but they still contribute to high morbidity and mortality (37). Potential complications include short and long-term events. It was reported that nearly 6% of patients experience Ventricular fibrillation in the early phase of AMI (37). Atrial fibrillation may also commonly occur within the first 24 hours of AMI onset. Within the first 24-hours, re-infarction is possible and should be suspected when there is a repeat-ST-segment elevation. Additionally, pericarditis may develop in 10 % of AMI patients 24-96 hours after the event (38). Furthermore,

some mechanical complications may occur throughout the hospital stay. Studies reported that in AMI patients who are treated with PCI, the proportion of mechanical complications was nearly 1% (39, 40). These include papillary muscle rupture and mitral valve regurgitation, free wall rupture, left ventricular aneurysm and ventricular septal defect. Late pericarditis may also occur within several weeks after AMI. Other potential complications of AMI may include mural thrombus and systemic embolism resulting in limb ischemia or stroke (38).

The most frequent AMI-related complication contributing to in-hospital AMI mortality is heart failure. A nationwide Norwegian study showed that 18% of patients developed new-onset heart failure after the first AMI occurrence (41, 42). In addition, cardiogenic shock is another potentially fatal AMI complication. A study in the United Stated showed that around 4% of AMI patients progressed into cardiogenic shock between 2001 and 2011 with little change over time (43). Due to improvement in early recognition and adequate treatment, the case-fatality rate of cardiogenic shocks decreased from 47% to 29%.

Within the context of AMI outcomes, two prognostic risk scores that were established and validated for all subtypes of ACS, namely GRACE and TIMI (Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction) (44). GRACE score (45) can be used to predict all-cause mortality beyond 6-months post AMI. It is comprised of eight parameters: age, history of heart failure, heart rate and systolic blood pressure upon presentation, ST segment depression, level of serum creatinine, abnormal changes in cardiac enzymes, degree of severity of post-AMI heart failure (if present). TIMI risk score (46) encompasses seven parameters including age, CAD risk factors or known history of CAD, severe angina, ST segment deviation on ECG, cardiac enzymes and use of Acetylsalicylic acid within one week prior to AMI. This score can be used to assess and predict risk of ischemic events and cardiovascular mortality in AMI patients, at 14 weeks.

#### 1.7 Post-AMI management

Post-AMI care involves pharmacological treatments and lifestyle modifications to prevent recurrence of AMI and other ischemic events (34). In addition, cardiac rehabilitation and participation in integrated multidisciplinary care coordinated by cardiologists should be offered to all patients with acute coronary syndrome (ACS).

Pharmacological treatment includes antiplatelet therapy with Acetylsalicylic acid with P2Y12 inhibitor irrespective of acute treatment strategy. Long-term management with Beta blockers should be initiated within the first 24 hours, if there are no contraindications. Early and aggressive management with statins and other lipid-lowering medications is recommended in

patients with ACS. Moreover, a meta-analysis showed the benefits of starting Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and/or Angiotensin receptor blockers (ACEI/ARB) within the first week after the AMI, and demonstrated a reduction in the 30-day mortality (47).

Furthermore, another meta-analysis showed the beneficial effect of smoking cessation on lowering the risk of mortality in AMI patients (48). It is considered as the most cost-effective preventive measure. Healthier diet, lower alcohol use, and physical activity were associated with better outcomes and lower mortality (34).

#### **1.8 AMI classifications**

AMI can be grouped into different classifications that are of clinical and epidemiological relevance. We list below three major classifications that are relevant for this thesis. In our publications, we explored they might be interconnected.

• Based on EKG classification:

Classically, AMI can be classified into ST-segment elevation AMI STEMI or NSTEMI. Rupture or erosion of the atherosclerotic plaque and subsequent thrombus formation can lead to decreased blood flow to the cardiomyocytes and their necrosis. A complete occlusion of the coronary artery with a resulting necrosis involving all three layers of the myocardium causes elevations in the ST-segment, which can be detected on the EKG. Hence, this type of AMI is known as STEMI (49). If the coronary artery occlusion is partial and the necrosis does not extend to all three layers of the myocardium, ST segment would not be elevated on the EKG. Instead, there might be other ischemiarelated changes on the EKG such as depression of the ST-segment or inversion of the T-wave, maybe even no changes at all. The presence of these EKG changes or simply ischemic chest pain, accompanied by troponin elevation, is diagnosed as NSTEMI (49). Studies reported an increase in the proportion of NSTEMI relative to STEMI. This was accompanied by a decrease in the incidence of STEMI and a stagnation or increase in the incidence of NSTEMI (50-52). In Germany, a nationwide study using data from the years 2005/2007/2009 showed that, although the AMI remained constant over the years, the proportion of STEMI decreased over time, while the proportion of NSTEMI increased (50).

• Based on the underlying pathophysiological mechanism:

There are five types of AMI based on the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms (1, 49, 53). The majority of cases are classified into Type 1, followed by Type 2 (prevalence ranging between 2 and 30%), while the rest are relatively scarce. When the ischemia is a consequence of rupture/erosion of an atherosclerotic plaque followed by thrombosis, the AMI is labeled as Type 1. Ischemia arising due to a mismatch in Oxygen demand and supply that does not involve coronary atherothrombosis is known as Type 2 AMI. This can be seen in cases of tachyarrhythmia, anemia, sepsis and hypotension, and coronary artery spasms. Type 3 AMI is diagnosed in cases of sudden cardiac death preceded by symptoms and signs suggestive of ischemia. Types 4a and 4b as well as Type 5 are iatrogenic infractions related coronary procedures, such as PCI and CABG (1, 49, 53).

• Based on location at the time of occurrence:

Studies, especially randomized clinical trials, that examined the clinical presentation, risk factors, diagnostics, treatments and outcomes of AMI focused mainly on those occurring outside the hospital setting (out-of-hospital AMI) (54-56). Their findings informed guidelines and management protocols for AMI. Recently, there has been growing interest among researchers to examine AMI occurring in patients hospitalized for other medical conditions, otherwise known as in-hospital AMI. This is due to existing differences in the risk factors, treatment patterns and clinical outcomes between in-hospital and out-of-hospital AMI. In-hospital AMIs will be further developed in later sections of this thesis.

#### 1.9 In-hospital AMI is a high-risk subgroup of AMI

Extensive research is being conducted to gain insights on risk factors, management and outcomes of AMI, and to identify strategies to reduce morbidity and mortality. However, most of the studies included only out-of-hospital AMI, or did not distinguish between out-of-hospital AMI and its in-hospital counterpart (54-56). This is important since in-hospital AMI, i.e. those occurring among patients hospitalized for other conditions, constitute a sub-group with different clinical profile and outcomes. The most common cause of in-hospital AMI is ACS (57), but the leading non-cardiac cause of in-hospital AMI is operations (58). A clinical trial reported an incidence of perioperative in-hospital AMI of 5% (59). Other causes of in-hospital AMI include infections and sepsis (60, 61), anemia, diabetes (62, 63) or iatrogenic diagnostic and therapeutic procedures (58, 64, 65).

Zahn et al. prospectively examined in-hospital STEMI between 1994-1997 (57). They reported that 7% of all STEMI cases managed in hospitals were classified as in-hospital. Compared to out-of-hospital STEMI, patients with in-hospital STEMI were older, have higher proportions of hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and history of stroke. They were also less likely to receive Beta blockers, Heparin and Acetylsalicylic acid. Patients with in-hospital STEMI showed higher odds of in-hospital mortality compared to those with out-of-hospital STEMI (OR 1.54, 95% CI [1.28-1.86]). Various other studies confirmed the aforementioned findings and concluded that in-hospital STEMI patients tend to be older and more comorbid, receive less frequently invasive intervention and fare worse compared to out-of-hospital STEMI (66-69). In-hospital complications such as major bleeds and cardiogenic shocks , as well as short and long-term mortality, were found to be higher in in-hospital STEMI compared to out-of-hospital STEMI (66, 67, 70, 71).

The above-mentioned studies did not include NSTEMI in their examination of in-hospital AMI. A recent American study using US Veterans Health Administration facilities assessed inhospital AMI by including both STEMI and NSTEMI (54). The incidence of in-hospital STEMI and NSTEMI among all hospital admissions was 4.3 cases/1000 admission. Surprisingly, NSTEMI contributed to 85% of the in-hospital AMI cases, similar to the finding by Maynard et al (90%) (72). There is currently no investigation focusing exclusively on the differences between in-hospital and out-of-hospital NSTEMI, although it constitutes the majority of all inhospital AMI cases. Moreover, there are still no standardized protocols for acute management of in-hospital AMI, and the long-term pharmacological management remains sub-optimal (57, 58).

#### **1.10 Research questions**

As previously demonstrated, Saxony-Anhalt has one of the highest AMI mortality in Germany. Various studies aimed to investigate the associated risk factors, but there is a paucity of evidence on the prevalence of in-hospital AMI and its contribution to mortality in this federal state. In addition, the literature is lacking in terms of the number of studies examining in-hospital AMI in both of its classifications STEMI and NTEMI, as the majority focused on in-hospital STEMI only. This is relevant since over 85% of in-hospital AMI are attributed to NSTEMI. Moreover, the few existing studies including both in-hospital STEMI and NSTEMI are limited either by the lack of an out-of-hospital group for comparison (54), or by exclusion of a considerable proportion of in-hospital AMI cases (58, 72). In the RHESA registry, both of these limitations were mitigated, providing the possibility for a more comprehensive

examination of the full spectrum of in-hospital AMI. In addition, few studies investigated the choice of treatment strategy and patterns of utilization of invasive intervention in in-hospital AMI. Why certain patients suffering from in-hospital AMI receive conservative treatment instead of invasive intervention remains unclear, and the relevant determinants require further exploration. Finally, a focused comparison of the risk factors, treatments and outcomes of in-hospital NSTEMI relative to out-of-NSTEMI remains insufficiently explored, and merits a more thorough research.

Given the gaps in knowledge depicted above, this thesis aimed to provide an in-depth analysis of in-hospital AMI by achieving goals relevant to the topic on the level of Saxony-Anhalt (herein referred to as specific objectives) as well as on the level of the existing literature (herein referred to as overall aims). The specific objective of this thesis was to shed light on the topic of in-hospital AMI in this federal state and on the factors influencing the treatment strategy, in order to improve health outcomes. The overall aims were: 1) to add to the findings of previous studies on the differences between in-hospital and out-of-hospital AMI while overcoming some of their limitations; 2) to provide novel insights regarding the choice of treatment strategy in in-hospital AMI, and 3) to explore whether the previously established findings for in-hospital STEMI can be observed for in-hospital NSTEMI.

The above objectives and aims were achieved through the findings of the following three publications:

(P1): The specific objective was to report the proportion of in-hospital AMI among all AMI cases in the regional registry, and assess its risk factors and its association with the outcome 30-day mortality. The overall aim was to provide a comprehensive comparison between in-hospital and out-of-hospital AMI, while avoiding the limitations of previous studies.

(P2): The specific objective of (P2) was to estimate the proportion of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMI in Saxony-Anhalt, and to identify the determinants of opting for an invasive intervention in this group. The overall aim was to provide initial information about the differences in treatments strategies among patients with in-hospital AMI and the determinants of the treatment strategy choice, as there are currently no studies on this topic.

(P3): The specific objective of (P3) was to shed light on the prevalence of in-hospital NSTEMI among all NSTEMI cases in the RHESA registry, and compare risk factors, treatments and outcomes between in-hospital and out-of-hospital NSTEMI. The overall aim of (P3) was to narrow the knowledge gap between in-hospital NSTEMI and in-hospital STEMI.

#### **2** Discussion

Corresponding to specific objectives and overall aims of the thesis, we investigated the prevalence and predictors of in-hospital AMI in the RHESA registry. We found that among all treated AMI cases in the RHESA study (2013 - 2019), 487 cases (11.4%) were in-hospital. A comparison with the out-of-hospital AMI group revealed that patients with in-hospital AMI were older and had higher proportions of preexisting medical conditions. In addition, the in-hospital group was less frequently treated with PCI, and had higher crude morbidity and 30-day mortality. After adjusting for preexisting medical conditions and other confounders, the chance of 30-day mortality of in-hospital AMI was almost twice that of out-hospital mortality. We were able to confirm the results of previous findings, but also provide comprehensive information on the full spectrum of in-hospital AMI (P1).

Since there were no available analyses on the differences between in-hospital NSTEMI and out-of-hospital NSTEMI, we conducted our own investigation using NSTEMI cases included in RHESA. We found that 14% of NSTEMI cases in the study regions occurred in hospitals. This is higher than what has been reported for STEMI by previous studies, whereby 5-7% of STEMI cases were found to be in-hospital (57, 66). Differences in risk factors, management, and outcomes between in-hospital and out of hospital STEMI were also observed for NSTEMI. The in-hospital NSTEMI group was older than the out-of-hospital NSTEMI group, and had higher proportions of diabetes, heart failure, CKD and atrial fibrillation. Regarding the acute management, patients with in-hospital NSTEMI received less frequently Acetylsalicylic acid and anticoagulants compared to patients with out-of-hospital NSTEMI, and they were less commonly treated with an invasive intervention. Odds of 30-day mortality were higher in the in-hospital NSTEMI group, which persisted even after adjusting for chronic medical conditions and other confounders. Therefore, we concluded that the difference established between in-hospital STEMI and out-of-hospital STEMI may play a bigger role in the burden of in-hospital AMI (P3).

Furthermore, we were interested in examining the treatment strategy in patients with in-hospital AMI, and identifying the determinants of opting for invasive intervention vs. conservative treatment. We found that two thirds of the included patients with in-hospital AMI (259/386) underwent an invasive intervention, while the rest received a conservative treatment, although invasive intervention was associated with lower 30-day mortality. We could not compare the findings of (P2) with the literature since there are no previous studies, to our knowledge, examining this topic in patients with in-hospital AMI (73). Therefore, we compared our results

to what is known for out-of-hospital AMI. Hereby, we found that age, history of heart failure, and heart rate on admission were relevant determinants of the treatment strategy in in-hospital AMI, similar to findings of studies on out-of-hospital AMI (74-76). Additionally, STEMI classification was associated with higher odds of receiving an invasive intervention compared to NSTEMI (74, 77). However, the remaining clinical and lifestyle determinants of invasive intervention in out-of-hospital AMI showed no association with the treatment strategy in our sample of in-hospital AMI cases. Even more, contrary to what is reported by Câlmâc et al. for out-of-hospital AMI (78), we found that hypertension is associated with higher odds of using invasive intervention in in-hospital AMI. We also demonstrated that it is possible that the choice of the treatment strategy in in-hospital AMI is associated with the number of medical comorbidities rather than the presence of specific comorbidities. Unfortunately, residual confounding could not be excluded. We could not adjust for the severity of the accompanying medical condition nor the time duration between onset of symptoms and treatment, both of which could influence the results.

#### 2.1 Consistency in all reported proportions of in-hospital AMI

While the available studies examining in-hospital AMI are considered large, they are limited in number. They also differ in terms of the inclusion and exclusion criteria, limiting the ability to compare findings. Despite that, there is little variability in the reported proportions of inhospital AMI to total AMI, with all being consistently lower than 10% (58, 72, 79). It is important to note that the proportions might be overestimated as none of the studies included patients with pre-hospital AMI mortality, which would contribute to a higher total number of out-of-hospital AMI. In other words, patients who died at home or in long-term care facilities as well as those who died while being transferred by emergency medical services before arriving to the hospital were not accounted for in the total number of AMI. This means that the number of out-of-hospital AMI (and thus total number of AMI) is higher than what is reported in the available studies. Thus, the proportion of in-hospital AMI might be lower than observed. It is challenging to gauge the influence of excluding patient with pre-hospital AMI mortality on the calculated proportion of in-hospital AMI. But, we believe that the influence is minimal given the decreasing trend in the incidence of pre-hospital AMI mortality in Germany (5, 80). In addition, exclusion of prehospital AMI deaths does not change the clinical implications of these studies in terms of the quality of health care services that ought to be provided by hospitals. A proportion ranging from 1-11% warrants the need to raise awareness of the medical staff about in-hospital AMI, especially in non-medical wards like the surgical wards where the

occurrence of perioperative in-hospital AMI is common (81-83). It is worth noting that this range includes high-income countries only, as studies on in-hospital AMI in low-middle income countries are not available.

#### 2.2 Heterogeneity of patients with in-hospital AMI

We were able to confirm the findings of previous studies (58, 72) regarding the association of age and medical comorbidities (e.g. heart failure, chronic kidney disease, and peripheral vascular disease) with the onset and worse outcomes of in-hospital AMI. However, we noticed a heterogeneity in the group of patients with in-hospital AMI in our sample. The prevalence of the cardiovascular risk factors among patients with in-hospital AMI differed considerably, with the exception of hypertension, whereby the vast majority (84%) were hypertensive. Diabetes, hyperlipidemia, CKD and obesity were prevalent in 30-40% of the patients with in-hospital AMI, but not the rest. Moreover, we could not examine the admission diagnosis, and hence we could not account for disease severity in patients with in-hospital AMI. It is highly likely that there is a heterogeneity in the reason for hospital admission and the severity of the concomitant disease giving rise to the in-hospital AMI. Therefore, prospective studies are still needed to elucidate the incidence of in-hospital AMI in Saxony-Anhalt and to identify specific risk factors of AMI among patients hospitalized for other reasons.

It is reasonable to assume that the heterogeneity in the clinical profile of patients with inhospital AMI would affect the choice of treatment strategy as well as the risk of mortality. Surprisingly, we found that the group of patients treated with an invasive intervention was homogeneous with respect to the group treated conservatively, with the exception of preexisting heart failure (more common in the latter group). In the adjusted analysis, we found that hypertension and heart failure were relevant determinants of the treatment strategy in patients with in-hospital AMI. Other determinants of invasive strategy that were observed to be relevant in out-of-hospital AMI (such as sex, CKD and history of stroke) were not associated with the treatment strategy of in-hospital AMI in our sample. Unfortunately, there are no published findings on the differences in the treatment of in-hospital AMI, to which we could compare our results. This highlights the need for longitudinal studies to examine clinical and socioeconomic factors associated with the treatment strategy of in-hospital AMI.

#### 2.3 In-hospital NSTEMI poses a bigger challenge than in-hospital STEMI

After we examined in-hospital AMI in the RHESA registry and related the results to what is known in the literature, we came to the realization that there is a lack of studies focusing exclusively on NSTEMI. This is relevant since NSTEMI is the more frequent EKG classification among in-hospital AMI. After we conducted our focused analysis on NSTEMI, we concluded that patients with in-hospital NSTEMI have different characteristics and worse prognosis than those with out-of-hospital NSTEMI, in accordance with previous findings on STEMI. However, in terms of diagnosis and treatment, in-hospital NSTEMI may pose a bigger challenge to medical staff than in-hospital STEMI. Unlike in-hospital STEMI – which may be more easily detected on the EKG – little to no EKG changes (by definition) can be observed with in-hospital NSTEMI. In-hospital NSTEMI may go undetected by the treating medical staff, especially when patients are not found on cardiology wards.

In addition, protocols for treatment of out-of-hospital STEMI are more standardized as compared to out-of-hospital NSTEMI. In fact, studies show the a wider variation of medical practices and lower adherence to guideline-recommended management of NSTEMI (34, 84, 85). One can assume that this higher complexity of treatment can also be observed when comparing in-hospital NSTEMI to in-hospital STEMI, especially when considering the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms of the in-hospital infarction (Types 1 vs. Type 2 AMI). Garberich et al. examined the outcomes of applying the standardized protocol for out-of-hospital STEMI in cases of in-hospital STEMI. It was found to be associated with improved detection of in-hospital STEMI, shorter time to therapy, and lower mortality (86). The effectiveness of applying the variable and more complex protocols for management of out-of-hospital NSTEMI to its in-hospital counterpart remains unclear, and warrants further exploration.

#### 2.4 Interplay among the various classifications of AMI

In this thesis, we presented three different ways to classify AMI: based on underlying pathophysiological mechanisms, based on EKG classification, and based on location of onset (in or out-of-hospital). To what extent these classifications are separate from each other remains an intriguing topic that requires further research. Through our work and refering to what is published in the literature, we believe that there is an important interplay between the various classifications of AMI. Type 1 AMI involving atherothrombosis and Type 2 AMI resulting from non-atherothrombotic insufficient Oxygen supply can both be further subdivided into STEMI and NSTEMI based on EKG changes. However, STEMI is obsereved in less than 25% of the Type 2 AMI cases (87). Interestingly, recent studies show that Type 2 AMI might occur more frequently than Type 1 AMI, even though NSTEMI (the most common entity of ACS) tends to be caused more frequently by Type 1 AMI (reaching 65% -90% of Type 1 AMI) (88).

Underreporting of Type 2 NSTEMI may be associated with the diagnostic method, criteria of AMI classification, and the clinical setting.

When conisdering the third AMI classificaiton (based on location of onset), we see an association between NSTEMI and in-hospital AMI, whereby the most common EKG classification of in-hospital AMI is reported to be NSTEMI (54, 72). In addition, although no study to date investigated the association between the pathophysiological AMI Types and in-hospital AMI occurrence, our results and the findings of previous investigations hint at a possible correlation between Type 2 AMI and in-hospital AMI. This is based on the observed similarity between the causes of Type 2 AMI and the risks factors associated with in-hospital AMI (including perioperative stress, sepsis and hypotension, chronic kidney disease, arrhythmias, anemia, heart failure, etc.) (1, 49, 53). Clearly, there is an interaction between the different AMI classifications, but future studies are needed to identify the pathophysiological mechanisms giving rise to in-hospital AMI.

#### 2.5 Factors contributing to worse clinical outcomes in in-hospital AMI

When comparing in-hospital STEMI to out-of-hospital STEMI, in-hospital NSTEMI to out-ofhospital NSTEMI, or in-hospital AMI to out-of-hospital AMI, the risk of complications and mortality is always higher in the in-hospital group than in its out-of-hospital counterpart (54, 57, 58, 66-69, 72, 79, 86, 89). This association persists even after adjusting for pre-existing medical conditions. Nonetheless, it is challenging to determine to which extent the in-hospital AMI directly contributes to mortality in patients who were admitted to the hospital for another medical condition. In addition, in patients with in-hospital AMI who are unfit for coronary angiography (such as those with sepsis or post-operative patients), it would not be possible to assess the existence of a previously unidentified ACS, the most common cause of AMI occurrence.

Differences in outcomes between in-hospital and out-of-hospital AMI can be attributed to various reasons. One important factor associated with outcomes of AMI is time to diagnosis and management. In out-of-hospital AMI, longer time between symptom onset and presentation to the hospital (prehospital delay) increases the risk of mortality and in-hospital complications, especially in the case of STEMI (90, 91). A longer time between symptom-onset and ECG/treatment was reported in patients with in-hospital AMI compared to those with out-of-hospital AMI, which may be associated with increased risk of mortality (58, 67, 69, 72).

Patients with in-hospital AMI are more likely to experience atypical symptoms due to the high multicomorbidity, which leads to delays in timely diagnosis. In addition, the severity of the accompanying medical disease may complicate the hospital post-AMI occurrence and eventually to an increased risk of mortality of in-hospital AMI (54, 58, 66, 67, 71).

Another potential explanation for the worse outcomes in patients with in-hospital AMI may be due to lack of guideline-recommended management plans as well as lower rates of invasive intervention (58, 66, 67, 69, 72, 92). In our study, we found that patients with in-hospital NSTEMI for example received less frequently Acetylsalicylic acid and heparin, possibly due to contraindications. Mazzella et al. assessed factors preventing the use of cardiac catheterization and invasive intervention among patients with in-hospital NSTEMI. Older women with comorbidities were less likely to undergo cardiac catheterization (93), and the leading three reasons for not performing the catheterization were high risk for complications, severity of the medical condition, and against patient's wishes.

## 2.6 The need to optimize the acute and long-term management of in-hospital AMI

Similar to Erne et al. (58), we showed that patients with in-hospital AMI are less likely treated with ESC-recommended medications such antiplatelet and anticoagulants, compared to those with out-of-hospital AMI. ESC recommends immediate reperfusion therapy with PCI for patients with a working diagnosis of STEMI. As for patients with Non ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome (NSTE-ACS), an invasive treatment is also recommended, but the urgency depends on the risk stratification (34). We confirmed the results of previous studies (58, 72) showing that patients with in-hospital AMI are less likely to be treated with PCI. We hypothesize this is due to higher risk of bleeding. As previously detailed, treatment of in-hospital AMI may be more complex and standardized treatment protocols are lacking. We also showed that the determinants of invasive intervention in in-hospital AMI might be different from those of out-of-hospital AMI.

In terms of long-term care, we found that patients with in-hospital AMI, regardless of whether they were treated conservatively or invasively, were less likely to be discharged on P2Y12 receptor inhibitor, statins and beta-blockers recommended by ESC. Similar findings were also reported by Erne at al. (58). While antiplatelet might be less frequently prescribed due to contraindications, statins and beta-blockers ought to be prescribed, especially for the more comorbid subgroup of patients with in-hospital AMI. Many studies showed that one to strategy to improve outcomes and quality of care for inhospital cardiac arrest includes participation in registries. Detailed information regarding patients' characteristics, treatments and outcomes as well as hospital-related information can be collected by registries. This has allowed the possibility to make relevant comparisons, identify gaps, and find potential targets for improvement of healthcare outcomes. We believe this might translated to in-hospital AMI, as indicated by our analyses using registry data. We therefore encourage hospitals in Saxony-Anhalt to participate in the regional RHESA registry (94, 95).

#### 2.7 Regional differences and in-hospital AMI

Various studies examined the differences in AMI mortality between rural and urban regions. Residents of rural regions were found to have lower proportions of utilization of invasive intervention and higher adjusted odds of AMI mortality, compared to residents of urban regions (96, 97). We found that residents of Halle (urban) had higher odds of developing in-hospital AMI than residents of Altmark (rural), OR= 1.44, 95% CI [1.14-1.83]. It remains unclear why the regionality showed an association with the occurrence of in-hospital AMI. We believe that it might be explained by the differences in the clinical characteristics between patients residing in the urban region vs. those residing in the rural region.

Moreover, in the focused analysis including only in-hospital AMI cases, we found that Altmark residents received less frequently an invasive intervention than residents of Halle, but the region of residence had no association with 30-day mortality. This could hint at existing differences in the patterns and strategy of treatment of AMI within the federal state of Saxony-Anhalt itself. Despite that, it seems that these differences have little influence on the short-term AMI mortality. Future studies comparing the current differences in characteristics, treatment, and outcomes of patients with AMI between urban and rural German areas are needed.

# 2.8 Availability of a cardiac catheter laboratory is not associated with the treatment strategy of in-hospital AMI

Previous studies on out-of-hospital AMI showed inconsistent findings regarding the association between availability of cardiac catheterization laboratories in the admitting hospital and mortality in patients with ACS (98-100). Therefore, we examined if the availability of a cardiac catheterization laboratory had an impact on the choice of treatment strategy and mortality outcome in in-hospital AMI. For this reason, we made a comparison between patients who developed in-hospital AMI in hospitals readily equipped with a cardiac catheterization laboratory, and those who were initially found hospitals with no catheter laboratory.

We found that 80/127 (63%) of patients who were treated conservatively were initially present in hospitals with no cardiac catheter laboratory upon onset of the in-hospital AMI. A small proportion of these 80 patients died in the first hospital. The remaining 86% of those patients (N = 69) were either discharged home or transferred to a second hospital that is equipped with catheterization laboratories, but eventually still received no intervention. We had expected that a diagnosis of in-hospital AMI in hospitals with no catheterization laboratory would be associated with higher mortality. Contrary to our expectation, we found higher odds of mortality in the group of patients who happened to be in hospitals equipped with catheterization laboratories when they received the diagnosis of in-hospital AMI. We believe that patients with severe diseases and comorbid profiles, and thus at higher risk of dying, are more likely to be admitted to bigger hospitals with more advanced management facilities (like catheterization laboratory), rather than to smaller hospitals. Another implication to lower association between the unavailability of a catheterization laboratory and lower mortality of in-hospital AMI is that the transfer to a more readily equipped hospital for treatment of in-hospital AMI (and hence potential delay in receiving proper treatment) may not necessarily lead to unfavorable outcomes.

# 2.9 The advantages of a registry-based study to provide initial information about in-hospital AMI

It is well known that the best type of evidence comes from randomized-controlled trials (RCT). But in many cases, a registry-based study can provide a sufficient level of evidence in order to show the need to re-conduct the same study in a RCT-study design, or to confirm the findings of an RCT in a "real word scenario" (101). Certainly, registry-based studies have some limitations, including unavailability or misclassificaiton of information, lack of confounders, or poor data quality (102). But, their advantages make them attractive for conducting epidemiological studies. Registries can provide a representative study sample since the aim is always to identify and include all cases (based on a predefined purpose and inclusion criteria). In addition, they permit to conduct follow-up studies since the status of patients is usually updated over time. Registry-based studies can provide basic epidemiological insights about chronic diseases (such as prevalence and mortality), but may also be relevant for establishing guidelines and influencing policy-making (103). Also, registries can serve as a basis for RCTs, which can help overcome some of the limitations of traditional RCTs (104). Based on the

above, and given that the topic of in-hospital AMI is still not extensively examined and the cases are not very common, we conducted our analyses using data from the RHESA registry. This allowed us to gain preliminary insights and delve deeper into the topic of in-hospital AMI.

#### 2.10 Strengths and limitations

The results of our study should be interpreted with caution, due to some inherent limitations. The biggest limitation is the cross-sectional study design. To better identify the incidence of inhospital AMI in the population of Saxony-Anhalt and its associated risk factors, a prospective cohort study would be needed. This would also be useful for a better understanding of factors influencing the treatment strategy in in-hospital AMI, as well as the short and long-term differences in outcomes based on the choice of treatment strategy. In addition, the RHESA registry includes only two regions (Halle/urban and Altmark/rural) in Saxony-Anhalt, and over the years, the participation of hospitals had declined. This could limit the generalizability of our results. The RHESA sample might not be very representative of the residents of Saxony-Anhalt since 50% of the participants were from the rural region, when in fact 33% of the population lives in rural regions (105). Another limitation is that we used routine clinical data for our analyis, which is subject to problems of data quality and limited standardization. Important information and confounders such as the admission diagnosis and use of coronary angiography were not available. Both of these factors could have major implications on the treatment and outcomes of in-hopsital AMI.

The major strength of this thesis is that it provides novel and innovative information about a topic that is not well studied. To our knowledge, this is the first attempt to: a) assess in-hopsital AMI in Germany including both STEMI and NSTEMI, b) provide a focused examination of in-hopsital NSTEMI, and c) examine the differences in treatment strategy and associated outcomes in the subgroup of patients with in-hospital AMI. Moreover, we were able to adjust the results of our analyses to the type of residence (urban vs. rural) which is an important confounder in studies on AMI and its outcomes. An additional strength of our work is the relatively large sample size of patients with in-hopsital AMI compared to the previous investigations. In terms of statistical analysis, we utilized Generalized Additive Models (GAM) analysis, when possible, to examine the linearity of association between continuous independent variables (such as age and BMI) with the respective dependent variable. We also performed segmented logistic regression to calculate odds ratios for the relevant segments of continuous variables that showed non-linear association with the dependent variable. Finally, we used directed acylic

graphs (DAG) analysis in (P2) and (P3) for selecting the minimum set of covariables to adjust for in the multivariable logistic regression analyses, in order to limit the degree of bias.

#### 2.11 Conclusions

Similar to findings of the few previous studies, we showed that in-hospital AMI is not uncommon in the federal state of Saxony-Anhalt, whereby one in every nine myocardial infarctions was found to be in-hospital. We confirmed that patients with in-hospital AMI constitute an older and more comorbid subgroup of patients with AMI. They also have higher odds for complications and mortality. NSTEMI is more likely to occur among hospitalized patients than STEMI, and the recognition and management of in-hospital NSTEMI may be more complex compared to in-hospital STEMI. No investigation, to date, has been conducted to examine if the management protocols for out-of-hospital NSTEMI are effective in the case of in-hospital NSTEMI.

Moreover, our analysis involving patients with in-hospital AMI only showed that one third of patients with in-hospital AMI were treated conservatively. Interestingly, the unavailability of a cardiac catheter laboratory did not play a major role in the choice of the treatment strategy. Age, history of heart failure and STEMI diagnosis were consistent predictors of the treatment strategy in both in and out-of-hospital AMI. While ESC recommends use of invasive intervention in out-of-hospital AMI due to more favorable outcomes, the benefit of invasive intervention relative to conservative treatment in in-hospital AMI is still unclear. Additionally, the long-term pharmacological management and prevention among patients with in-hospital AMI is sub-optimal. This raises the question of whether the recommended post-AMI lifestyle modifications in the subgroup is also suboptimal. Follow-up studies involving patients with in-hospital AMI ought to be conducted to assess the long-term mortality and morbidity.

To the quality of healthcare for patients with in-hospital AMI, we recommend raising awareness of the medical staff about this medical entity, especially when caring for high-risk patients such as patients with many comorbidities who are undergoing surgeries. We believe that hospitals' participation in the regional registry, expanding the coverage across more regions in Saxony-Anhalt, and increasing efforts to include in-hospital AMI cases can help reveal opportunities for quality improvement. More longitudinal studies are needed to optimize the prognosis and management of in-hospital AMI, and to assess differences in prevalence and outcomes of in-hospital in other German federal states.

### **3** References

1. Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, et al. Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). Circulation. 2018;138(20):e618-e51.

2. Thygesen K. What's new in the fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction? : Oxford University Press; 2018.

3. Vancheri F, Tate AR, Henein M, Backlund L, Donfrancesco C, Palmieri L, et al. Time trends in ischaemic heart disease incidence and mortality over three decades (1990-2019) in 20 Western European countries: systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. European journal of preventive cardiology. 2022;29(2):396-403.

4. Salari N, Morddarvanjoghi F, Abdolmaleki A, Rasoulpoor S, Khaleghi AA, Hezarkhani LA, et al. The global prevalence of myocardial infarction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders. 2023;23(1):206.

5. Dégano IR, Salomaa V, Veronesi G, Ferriéres J, Kirchberger I, Laks T, et al. Twenty-five-year trends in myocardial infarction attack and mortality rates, and case-fatality, in six European populations. Heart. 2015;101(17):1413-21.

6. Gößwald A, Schienkiewitz A, Nowossadeck E, Busch M. Prävalenz von Herzinfarkt und koronarer Herzkrankheit bei Erwachsenen im Alter von 40 bis 79 Jahren in Deutschland. 2013.

 Neumann JT, Goßling A, Sörensen NA, Blankenberg S, Magnussen C, Westermann D. Temporal trends in incidence and outcome of acute coronary syndrome. Clinical Research in Cardiology. 2020;109:1186-92.
 Deutscher Herzbericht 2020 Frankfurt: Deutsche Herzstiftung e.V; Hrsg 2020.

9. Stang A, Stang M. An inter-state comparison of cardiovascular risk factors in Germany: towards an explanation of high ischemic heart disease mortality in Saxony-Anhalt. Deutsches Ärzteblatt International. 2014;111(31-32):530.

10. Bohley S, Trocchi P, Robra B-P, Mau W, Stang A. The regional myocardial infarction registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) in Germany–rational and study protocol. BMC cardiovascular disorders. 2015;15(1):1-6.

11. Hirsch A, Verouden NJ, Koch KT, Baan Jr J, Henriques JP, Piek JJ, et al. Comparison of long-term mortality after percutaneous coronary intervention in patients treated for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction versus those with unstable and stable angina pectoris. The American journal of cardiology. 2009;104(3):333-7.

12. Bax JJ, Baumgartner H, Ceconi C, Dean V, UK CD, Fagard R, et al. Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012.

13. Tsuyuki RT, Teo KK, Ikuta RM, Bay KS, Greenwood PV, Montague TJ. Mortality risk and patterns of practice in 2,070 patients with acute myocardial infarction, 1987-92: relative importance of age, sex, and medical therapy. Chest. 1994;105(6):1687-92.

14. Albrektsen G, Heuch I, Løchen ML, Thelle DS, Wilsgaard T, Njølstad I, et al. Lifelong Gender Gap in Risk of Incident Myocardial Infarction: The Tromsø Study. JAMA internal medicine. 2016;176(11):1673-9.

15. Millett ER, Peters SA, Woodward M. Sex differences in risk factors for myocardial infarction: cohort study of UK Biobank participants. bmj. 2018;363.

16. Pancholy SB, Shantha GP, Patel T, Cheskin LJ. Sex differences in short-term and long-term all-cause mortality among patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous intervention: a meta-analysis. JAMA internal medicine. 2014;174(11):1822-30.

17. De Luca L, Marini M, Gonzini L, Boccanelli A, Casella G, Chiarella F, et al. Contemporary Trends and Age-Specific Sex Differences in Management and Outcome for Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2016;5(12).

18. Cenko E, Yoon J, Kedev S, Stankovic G, Vasiljevic Z, Krljanac G, et al. Sex Differences in Outcomes After STEMI: Effect Modification by Treatment Strategy and Age. JAMA internal medicine. 2018;178(5):632-9.

19. Gupta A, Wang Y, Spertus JA, Geda M, Lorenze N, Nkonde-Price C, et al. Trends in acute myocardial infarction in young patients and differences by sex and race, 2001 to 2010. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2014;64(4):337-45.

20. Anand SS, Islam S, Rosengren A, Franzosi MG, Steyn K, Yusufali AH, et al. Risk factors for myocardial infarction in women and men: insights from the INTERHEART study. European heart journal. 2008;29(7):932-40.

21. Lisowska A, Makarewicz-Wujec M, Filipiak KJ. Risk factors, prognosis, and secondary prevention of myocardial infarction in young adults in Poland. Kardiologia Polska (Polish Heart Journal). 2016;74(10):1148-53.

22. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Dans T, Avezum A, Lanas F, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet (London, England). 2004;364(9438):937-52.

23. Sagris M, Antonopoulos AS, Theofilis P, Oikonomou E, Siasos G, Tsalamandris S, et al. Risk factors profile of young and older patients with myocardial infarction. Cardiovascular research. 2022;118(10):2281-92.

24. Desai R, Patel U, Sharma S, Amin P, Bhuva R, Patel MS, et al. Recreational Marijuana Use and Acute Myocardial Infarction: Insights from Nationwide Inpatient Sample in the United States. Cureus. 2017;9(11):e1816.

25. Deligiannis A, Björnstad H, Carre F, Heidbüchel H, Kouidi E, Panhuyzen-Goedkoop NM, et al. ESC study group of sports cardiology position paper on adverse cardiovascular effects of doping in athletes. European journal of preventive cardiology. 2006;13(5):687-94.

26. Vasica G, Tennant CC. Cocaine use and cardiovascular complications. Medical Journal of Australia. 2002;177(5):260-2.

27. Jensen G, Nyboe J, Appleyard M, Schnohr P. Risk factors for acute myocardial infarction in Copenhagen, II: Smoking, alcohol intake, physical activity, obesity, oral contraception, diabetes, lipids, and blood pressure. Eur Heart J. 1991 Mar;12(3):298-308

28. Bush DE, Ziegelstein RC, Tayback M, Richter D, Stevens S, Zahalsky H, et al. Even minimal symptoms of depression increase mortality risk after acute myocardial infarction. The American journal of cardiology. 2001;88(4):337-41.

29. Gustad LT, Laugsand LE, Janszky I, Dalen H, Bjerkeset O. Symptoms of anxiety and depression and risk of acute myocardial infarction: the HUNT 2 study. European heart journal. 2014;35(21):1394-403.

30. Walters K, Rait G, Petersen I, Williams R, Nazareth I. Panic disorder and risk of new onset coronary heart disease, acute myocardial infarction, and cardiac mortality: cohort study using the general practice research database. European heart journal. 2008;29(24):2981-8.

31. Alter DA, Chong A, Austin PC, Mustard C, Iron K, Williams JI, et al. Socioeconomic status and mortality after acute myocardial infarction. Annals of internal medicine. 2006;144(2):82-93.

32. Wang J-Y, Wang C-Y, Juang S-Y, Huang K-Y, Chou P, Chen C-W, et al. Low socioeconomic status increases short-term mortality of acute myocardial infarction despite universal health coverage. International journal of cardiology. 2014;172(1):82-7.

33. Rasmussen JN, Rasmussen S, Gislason GH, Buch P, Abildstrom SZ, Køber L, et al. Mortality after acute myocardial infarction according to income and education. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2006;60(4):351-6.

34. Byrne RA, Rossello X, Coughlan J, Barbato E, Berry C, Chieffo A, et al. 2023 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes: Developed by the task force on the management of acute coronary syndromes of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). European Heart Journal. 2023:ehad191.

35. Ibanez B, James S, Agewall S, Antunes MJ, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Bueno H, et al. 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). European heart journal. 2018;39(2):119-77.

36. Collet J-P, Thiele H, Barbato E, Barthélémy O, Bauersachs J, Bhatt DL, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). European heart journal. 2021;42(14):1289-367.
 37. Anderson JL, Morrow DA. Acute myocardial infarction. New England Journal of Medicine. 2017;376(21):2053-64.

38. Mullasari AS, Balaji P, Khando T. Managing complications in acute myocardial infarction. J Assoc Physicians India. 2011;59(12):43-8.

39. French JK, Hellkamp AS, Armstrong PW, Cohen E, Kleiman NS, O'Connor CM, et al. Mechanical complications after percutaneous coronary intervention in ST-elevation myocardial infarction (from APEX-AMI). The American journal of cardiology. 2010;105(1):59-63.

40. Gong FF, Vaitenas I, Malaisrie SC, Maganti K. Mechanical complications of acute myocardial infarction: a review. JAMA cardiology. 2021;6(3):341-9.

41. Sulo G, Nygård O, Vollset SE, Igland J, Ebbing M, Sulo E, et al. Higher education is associated with reduced risk of heart failure among patients with acute myocardial infarction: a nationwide analysis using data from the CVDNOR project. European journal of preventive cardiology. 2016;23(16):1743-50.

42. Minicucci MF, Azevedo PS, Polegato BF, Paiva SA, Zornoff LA. Heart failure after myocardial infarction: clinical implications and treatment. Clinical cardiology. 2011;34(7):410-4.

43. Goldberg RJ, Makam RCP, Yarzebski J, McManus DD, Lessard D, Gore JM. Decade-long trends (2001–2011) in the incidence and hospital death rates associated with the in-hospital development of cardiogenic shock after acute myocardial infarction. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. 2016;9(2):117-25.

44. D'Ascenzo F, Biondi-Zoccai G, Moretti C, Bollati M, Omede P, Sciuto F, et al. TIMI, GRACE and alternative risk scores in Acute Coronary Syndromes: a meta-analysis of 40 derivation studies on 216,552 patients and of 42 validation studies on 31,625 patients. Contemporary clinical trials. 2012;33(3):507-14.

45. Tang EW, Wong C-K, Herbison P. Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events (GRACE) hospital discharge risk score accurately predicts long-term mortality post acute coronary syndrome. American heart journal. 2007;153(1):29-35.

46. Antman EM, Cohen M, Bernink PJ, McCabe CH, Horacek T, Papuchis G, et al. The TIMI risk score for unstable angina/non–ST elevation MI: a method for prognostication and therapeutic decision making. Jama. 2000;284(7):835-42.

47. Indications for ACE inhibitors in the early treatment of acute myocardial infarction: systematic overview of individual data from 100,000 patients in randomized trials. ACE Inhibitor Myocardial Infarction Collaborative Group. Circulation. 1998;97(22):2202-12.

48. Critchley JA, Capewell S. Mortality risk reduction associated with smoking cessation in patients with coronary heart disease: a systematic review. Jama. 2003;290(1):86-97.

49. Makki N, Brennan TM, Girotra S. Acute coronary syndrome. Journal of intensive care medicine. 2015;30(4):186-200.

50. Freisinger E, Fuerstenberg T, Malyar NM, Wellmann J, Keil U, Breithardt G, et al. German nationwide data on current trends and management of acute myocardial infarction: discrepancies between trials and reallife. European Heart Journal. 2014;35(15):979-88.

51. McManus DD, Gore J, Yarzebski J, Spencer F, Lessard D, Goldberg RJ. Recent trends in the incidence, treatment, and outcomes of patients with STEMI and NSTEMI. The American journal of medicine. 2011;124(1):40-7.

52. Sanchis-Gomar F, Perez-Quilis C, Leischik R, Lucia A. Epidemiology of coronary heart disease and acute coronary syndrome. Annals of translational medicine. 2016;4(13).

53. Baron T, Hambraeus K, Sundström J, Erlinge D, Jernberg T, Lindahl B, et al. Type 2 myocardial infarction in clinical practice. Heart. 2015;101(2):101-6.

54. Bradley SM, Borgerding JA, Wood GB, Maynard C, Fihn SD. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes associated with in-hospital acute myocardial infarction. JAMA network open. 2019;2(1):e187348-e.

55. Peterson ED, Shah BR, Parsons L, Pollack Jr CV, French WJ, Canto JG, et al. Trends in quality of care for patients with acute myocardial infarction in the National Registry of Myocardial Infarction from 1990 to 2006. American heart journal. 2008;156(6):1045-55.

56. Yeh RW, Sidney S, Chandra M, Sorel M, Selby JV, Go AS. Population trends in the incidence and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;362(23):2155-65.

57. Zahn R, Schiele R, Seidl K, Kapp T, Glunz HG, Jagodzinski E, et al. Acute myocardial infarction occurring in versus out of the hospital: patient characteristics and clinical outcome. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2000;35(7):1820-6.

58. Erne P, Bertel O, Urban P, Pedrazzini G, Lüscher TF, Radovanovic D, et al. Inpatient versus outpatient onsets of acute myocardial infarction. European journal of internal medicine. 2015;26(6):414-9.

59. Devereaux P, Xavier D, Pogue J, Guyatt G, Sigamani A, Garutti I, et al. Characteristics and short-term prognosis of perioperative myocardial infarction in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery: a cohort study. Annals of internal medicine. 2011;154(8):523-8.

60. Chow EJ, Rolfes MA, O'Halloran A, Anderson EJ, Bennett NM, Billing L, et al. Acute cardiovascular events associated with influenza in hospitalized adults: a cross-sectional study. Annals of internal medicine. 2020;173(8):605-13.

61. Kang Y, Fang X-Y, Wang D, Wang X-J. Factors associated with acute myocardial infarction in older patients after hospitalization with community-acquired pneumonia: a cross-sectional study. BMC geriatrics. 2021;21(1):1-9.

62. Leon BM, Maddox TM. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: epidemiology, biological mechanisms, treatment recommendations and future research. World journal of diabetes. 2015;6(13):1246.

63. Reynoso-Noverón N, Mehta R, Almeda-Valdes P, Rojas-Martinez R, Villalpando S, Hernández-Ávila M, et al. Estimated incidence of cardiovascular complications related to type 2 diabetes in Mexico using the UKPDS outcome model and a population-based survey. Cardiovascular Diabetology. 2011;10(1):1-9.

64. Veselka J, Hájek P, Malý M, Zemánek D, Adlová R, Tomašov P, et al. Predictors of coronary intervention-related myocardial infarction in stable angina patients pre-treated with statins. Archives of Medical Science. 2011;7(1):67-72.

65. Park DW, Kim YH, Yun SC, Ahn JM, Lee JY, Kim WJ, et al. Frequency, causes, predictors, and clinical significance of peri-procedural myocardial infarction following percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(22):1662-9.

66. Kaul P, Federspiel JJ, Dai X, Stearns SC, Smith SC, Jr., Yeung M, et al. Association of inpatient vs outpatient onset of ST-elevation myocardial infarction with treatment and clinical outcomes. Jama. 2014;312(19):1999-2007.

67. Levine GN, Dai X, Henry TD, Press MC, Denktas AE, Garberich RF, et al. In-hospital ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: improving diagnosis, triage, and treatment. JAMA cardiology. 2018;3(6):527-31.

68. Pande AN, Jacobs AK. In-hospital ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction: an inside-out approach. Circulation. 2014;129(11):1193-5.

69. Dai X, Bumgarner J, Spangler A, Meredith D, Smith SC, Stouffer GA. Acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction in patients hospitalized for noncardiac conditions. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2013;2(2):e000004.

70. Garberich RF, Traverse JH, Claussen MT, Rodriguez G, Poulose AK, Chavez IJ, et al. ST-elevation myocardial infarction diagnosed after hospital admission. Circulation. 2014;129(11):1225-32.

71. Stehli J, Dagan M, Dinh DT, Lefkovits J, Dick R, Oxley S, et al. Differences in outcomes of patients with in-hospital versus out-of-hospital ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a registry analysis. BMJ open. 2022;12(3):e052000.

72. Maynard C, Lowy E, Rumsfeld J, Sales AE, Sun H, Kopjar B, et al. The prevalence and outcomes of inhospital acute myocardial infarction in the Department of Veterans Affairs Health System. Archives of internal medicine. 2006;166(13):1410-6.

73. Assaf M, Costa D, Efremov L, Holland K, Mikolajczyk R. Comparison between Invasive Intervention and Conservative Treatment in Patients with In-Hospital Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2024;13(8):2194.

Amann U, Kirchberger I, Heier M, Thilo C, Kuch B, Peters A, et al. Predictors of non-invasive therapy and 28-day-case fatality in elderly compared to younger patients with acute myocardial infarction: an observational study from the MONICA/KORA Myocardial Infarction Registry. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders. 2016;16(1):1-10.

75. Negers A, Boddaert J, Mora L, Golmard J-L, Moïsi L, Cohen A, et al. Determinants of invasive strategy in elderly patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction. Journal of Geriatric Cardiology: JGC. 2017;14(7):465.

76. Puymirat E, Taldir G, Aissaoui N, Lemesle G, Lorgis L, Cuisset T, et al. Use of invasive strategy in non– ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction is a major determinant of improved long-term survival: FAST-MI (French Registry of Acute Coronary Syndrome). JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2012;5(9):893-902.

77. Kytö V, Prami T, Khanfir H, Hasvold P, Reissell E, Airaksinen J. Usage of PCI and long-term cardiovascular risk in post-myocardial infarction patients: a nationwide registry cohort study from Finland. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders. 2019;19:1-11.

78. Câlmâc L, Bătăilă V, Ricci B, Vasiljevic Z, Kedev S, Gustiene O, et al. Factors associated with use of percutaneous coronary intervention among elderly patients presenting with ST segment elevation acute myocardial infarction (STEMI): results from the ISACS-TC registry. International Journal of Cardiology. 2016;217:S21-S6.

79. Assaf M, Costa D, Massag J, Weber C, Mikolajczyk R, Lückmann SL. Comparison between In-Hospital and Out-of-Hospital Acute Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023;12(19):6305.

80. Löwel H, Meisinger C, Heier M, Hörmann A. The population-based acute myocardial infarction (AMI) registry of the MONICA/KORA study region of Augsburg. Das Gesundheitswesen. 2005;67(S 01):31-7.

81. Lansky AJ, Stone GW. Periprocedural myocardial infarction: prevalence, prognosis, and prevention. Circulation: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2010;3(6):602-10.

82. Puelacher C, Lurati Buse G, Seeberger D, Sazgary L, Marbot S, Lampart A, et al. Perioperative myocardial injury after noncardiac surgery: incidence, mortality, and characterization. Circulation. 2018;137(12):1221-32.

83. Sheth T, Natarajan M, Hsieh V, Valettas N, Rokoss M, Mehta S, et al. Incidence of thrombosis in perioperative and non-operative myocardial infarction. British journal of anaesthesia. 2018;120(4):725-33.
84. Shah AP, Nathan S. Challenges in implementation of institutional protocols for patients with acute coronary syndrome. The American journal of cardiology. 2018;122(2):356-63.

85. Basit H, Malik A, Huecker MR. Non-ST Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. StatPearls [Internet]: StatPearls Publishing; 2023.

86. Garberich RF, Traverse JH, Claussen MT, Rodriguez G, Poulose AK, Chavez IJ, et al. ST-elevation myocardial infarction diagnosed after hospital admission. Circulation. 2014;129(11):1225-32.

87. Sandoval Y, Jaffe AS. Type 2 myocardial infarction: JACC review topic of the week. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2019;73(14):1846-60.

88. Cohen M, Visveswaran G. Defining and managing patients with non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction: Sorting through type 1 vs other types. Clinical cardiology. 2020;43(3):242-50.

89. Assaf M, Lückmann SL, Efremov L, Ljupcho; Holland K, Costa D, Mikolajczyk R. Innerklinischer versus außerklinischer Nicht-ST-Streckenhebungs-Myokardinfarkt Ergebnisse der RHESA-Studie (In-Hospital versus out-of-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study). Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2024;21:409-10.

90. Mol KA, Rahel BM, Meeder JG, van Casteren BC, Doevendans P, Cramer M-JM. Delays in the treatment of patients with acute coronary syndrome: Focus on pre-hospital delays and non-ST-elevated myocardial infarction. International journal of cardiology. 2016;221:1061-6.

91. Alrawashdeh A, Nehme Z, Williams B, Stub D. Emergency medical service delays in ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a meta-analysis. Heart. 2019.

92. Jaski BE, Grigoriadis CE, Dai X, Meredith RD, Ortiz BC, Stouffer GA, et al. Factors Associated With Ineligibility for PCI Differ Between Inpatient and Outpatient ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Journal of interventional cardiology. 2016;29(4):363-9.

93. Mazzella AJ, Abisogun AA, Caughey M, Dai X. Mortality rates and length of stay in patients with acute non–ST segment elevation myocardial infarction hospitalized for noncardiac conditions on surgical versus nonsurgical services. The American Journal of Cardiology. 2017;120(9):1472-8.

94. Penketh J, Nolan JP. In-hospital cardiac arrest: the state of the art. Critical Care. 2022;26(1):376.
95. Nallamothu BK, Greif R, Anderson T, Atiq H, Couto TB, Considine J, et al. Ten steps toward improving in-hospital cardiac arrest quality of care and outcomes. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. 2023;16(11):e010491.

96. Jaehn P, Andresen-Bundus H, Bergholz A, Pagonas N, Hauptmann M, Neugebauer EA, et al. Contextualising the association of socioeconomic deprivation with hospitalization rates of myocardial infarction in a rural area in eastern Germany. Rural and Remote Health. 2022;22(2):1-9.

97. Loccoh EC, Joynt Maddox KE, Wang Y, Kazi DS, Yeh RW, Wadhera RK. Rural-urban disparities in outcomes of myocardial infarction, heart failure, and stroke in the United States. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2022;79(3):267-79.

98. Every NR, Larson EB, Litwin PE, Maynard C, Fihn SD, Eisenberg MS, et al. The association between onsite cardiac catheterization facilities and the use of coronary angiography after acute myocardial infarction. New England Journal of Medicine. 1993;329(8):546-51.

99. Rashid M, Kontopantelis E, Kinnaird T, Curzen N, Gale CP, Mohamed MO, et al. Association between hospital cardiac catheter laboratory status, use of an invasive strategy, and outcomes after NSTEMI. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2020;36(6):868-77.

100. Van de Werf F, Gore JM, Avezum Á, Gulba DC, Goodman SG, Budaj A, et al. Access to catheterisation facilities in patients admitted with acute coronary syndrome: multinational registry study. Bmj. 2005;330(7489):441.

101. Trotter JP. Patient registries: a new gold standard for "real world" research. Ochsner Journal. 2002;4(4):211-4.

102. Thygesen LC, Ersbøll AK. When the entire population is the sample: strengths and limitations in register-based epidemiology. European journal of epidemiology. 2014;29:551-8.

103. Pop B, Fetica B, Blaga ML, Trifa AP, Achimas-Cadariu P, Vlad Cl, et al. The role of medical registries, potential applications and limitations. Medicine and pharmacy reports. 2019;92(1):7.

104. Li G, Sajobi TT, Menon BK, Korngut L, Lowerison M, James M, et al. Registry-based randomized controlled trials-what are the advantages, challenges, and areas for future research? Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2016;80:16-24.

105. Factsheet on 2014-2020 Rural Development Programme for Saxony-Anhalt (Germany) 2022 [Available from: <u>https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-08/rdp-factsheet-saxony-anhalt\_en.pdf</u>. Webpage accessed on 13.07.2024

#### 4 Theses

- (1) We found that 11.4% of included acute myocardial infarction (AMI) cases in the Regional Myocardial infarction registry in Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) were in-hospital.
- (2) Patients with in-hospital AMI in our sample were older, more comorbid, and less likely to receive an invasive intervention, compared to those with out-of-hospital AMI.
- (3) In-hospital AMI was an independent predictor of 30-day mortality even after adjusting for comorbidities and other confounders (adjusted OR = 1.92, 95% CI: [1.52-2.46]).
- (4) In the analysis including NSTEMI only, we found that 14% of cases were in-hospital, higher than what is reported for in-hospital STEMI.
- (5) Patients with in-hospital NSTEMI were older and more comorbid than those with outof-hospital NSTEMI. This is similar to what is known for STEMI.
- (6) Patients with in-hospital NSTEMI received less frequently invasive intervention and higher adjusted odds of 30-day mortality (OR= 1.62, 95% CI: [1.15; 2.49]), compared to those with out-of-hospital NSTEMI.
- (7) Two thirds of the patients with in-hospital AMI were treated with an invasive intervention, while the rest with a conservative treatment.
- (8) Relevant determinants of conservative treatment were older age, higher heart upon presentation, history of heart failure and STEMI classification. These determinants are consistent with the determinants of invasive intervention in out-of-hospital AMI.
- (9) Invasive intervention was associated with lower odds of 30-day mortality (OR= 0.25, 95% CI: [0.10-0.67]).

### **5** Publications

#### List of included publications

### 1. Comparison between In-Hospital and Out-of-Hospital Acute Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study (P1)

**Assaf M**, Costa D, Massag J, Weber C, Mikolajczyk R, Lückmann SL. Comparison between In-Hospital and Out-of-Hospital Acute Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023 Sep 29;12(19):6305.

### 2. Comparison between Invasive Intervention and Conservative Treatment in Patients with In-Hospital Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study (P2)

**Assaf M**, Costa D, Efremov L, Holland K, Mikolajczyk R. Comparison between Invasive Intervention and Conservative Treatment in Patients with In-Hospital Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2024 Apr 10;13(8):2194.

## **3.** In-Hospital versus out-of-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study (P3)

**Assaf M**, Lückmann S, Efremov L, Holland K, Costa D, Mikolajczyk R: In-Hospital versus outof-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2024; 121: in press. DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.m2024.0032

### Personal contribution to publications relevant to the thesis

#### P1: Assaf M, Costa D, Massag J, et al. 2023

Development of the research question, parts of data cleaning and data preparation, setting definitions, planning and execution of statistical analysis, reporting of results, interpretation of results, writing of the manuscript, revision of the manuscript.

#### P2: Assaf M, Costa D, Efremov L et al. 2024

Development of the research question, parts of data cleaning and data preparation, setting definitions, planning and execution of statistical analysis, reporting of results, interpretation of results, writing of the manuscript, revision of the manuscript.

#### P3: Assaf M, Lückmann S, Efremov L, et al. 2024

Development of the research question, parts of data cleaning and data preparation, setting definitions, planning and execution of statistical analysis, reporting of results, interpretation of results, writing of the manuscript, revision of the manuscript.

## **Publication 1 (P1)**

**Assaf M**, Costa D, Massag J, Weber C, Mikolajczyk R, Lückmann SL. Comparison between In-Hospital and Out-of-Hospital Acute Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023 Sep 29;12(19):6305.




## Article Comparison between In-Hospital and Out-of-Hospital Acute Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study

Mohamad Assaf, Daniela Costa <sup>(0)</sup>, Janka Massag, Christoph Weber, Rafael Mikolajczyk <sup>(0)</sup> and Sara Lena Lückmann \*<sup>(0)</sup>

Institute for Medical Epidemiology, Biometrics and Informatics, Interdisciplinary Center for Health Sciences, Medical School of the Martin-Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Magdeburger Str. 8, 06112 Halle, Germany; mohamad.assaf@uk-halle.de (M.A.)

\* Correspondence: sara.lueckmann@uk-halle.de; Tel.: +49-345-557-3544

Abstract: Aims: Risk factors and outcomes of in-hospital ST elevation myocardial infraction (STEMI) are well explored. Recent findings show that non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) accounts for the majority of in-hospital infarctions (IHMIs). Our aim was to identify differences between IHMI and out-of-hospital myocardial infraction (OHMI) in terms of risk factors, treatment and outcomes, including both STEMI and NSTEMI. Methods: We analyzed the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt dataset. Patient characteristics, treatments and outcomes were compared between IHMI and OHMI. The association between clinical outcomes and myocardial infarction type was assessed using generalized additive models. Results: Overall, 11.4% of the included myocardial infractions were IHMI, and the majority were NSTEMI. Patients with IHMI were older and had more comorbidities than those with OHMI. Compared to OHMI, in-hospital myocardial infarction was associated with higher odds of 30-day mortality (OR = 1.85, 95% CI 1.32-2.59) and complications (OR = 2.36, 95 % CI 1.84–3.01). Conclusions: We provided insights on the full spectrum of IHMI, in both of its classifications. The proportion of IHMI was one ninth of all AMI cases treated in the hospital. Previously reported differences in the baseline characteristics and treatments, as well as worse clinical outcomes, in in-hospital STEMI compared to out-of-hospital STEMI persist even when including NSTEMI cases.

Keywords: myocardial infarction; in-hospital; out-of-hospital; complications; 30-day mortality; Germany

#### 1. Introduction

Ischemic heart disease, specifically acute myocardial infraction (AMI), remains one of the leading causes of global mortality despite the decrease in prevalence and incidence [1]. Various medical and psychosocial risk factors for AMI have been identified, including coronary artery disease, heart failure, hyperlipidemia, obesity, smoking and substance abuse [2–5]. However, most of the previous studies included patients who developed AMI in the pre-hospital setting, otherwise known as out-of-hospital AMI (OHMI) [6–8]. Patients admitted to the hospital for cardiac or non-cardiac conditions may develop AMI during hospitalization, labeled as in-hospital AMI (IHMI), contributing considerably to the overall burden of the disease [6].

A number of studies have addressed this topic of IHMI but focused solely on STEMI. For example, a large US administrative analysis reported that in-hospital STEMI accounted for around 5% of total STEMIs, and it was associated with a 4-fold increase in in-hospital mortality [9]. Moreover, an Australian study confirmed that in-hospital STEMI was associated with higher 30-day mortality compared to out-of-hospital STEMI [10]. In Germany, a prospective study conducted in 1994–1997 in more than 50 hospitals revealed that 7% of all STEMI cases were in-hospital cases. The mortality of patients with an in-hospital



Citation: Assaf, M.; Costa, D.; Massag, J.; Weber, C.; Mikolajczyk, R.; Lückmann, S.L. Comparison between In-Hospital and Out-of-Hospital Acute Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. J. Clin. Med. 2023, 12, 6305. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm12196305

Academic Editors: Gian Luigi Nicolosi and Attila Nemes

Received: 5 September 2023 Revised: 27 September 2023 Accepted: 28 September 2023 Published: 29 September 2023



**Copyright:** © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). STEMI was higher compared to patients who developed an out-of-hospital STEMI, at 27% vs. 14%, respectively [11]. Furthermore, resource utilization and in-hospital charges were found to be higher among patients with in-hospital STEMI compared to those with the out-of-hospital counterpart [9].

Recent investigations, however, showed that the majority of IHMIs tend to be non-STsegment elevation MI (NSTEMIs) [6,12]. Thus, it is important to include NSTEMI when assessing the burden of IHMI, especially since the proportion of NSTEMIs is increasing over time [13]. Our aim was to identify differences between in-hospital and out-of-hospital AMIs, including both AMI classifications (STEMI and NSTEMI). We estimated the proportion of IHMIs among AMIs that are treated in hospitals in the state of Saxony-Anhalt, including both STEMIs and NSTEMIs. Additionally, we compared the baseline characteristics, treatments and outcomes between patients with IHMI and OHMI. Finally, we examined the association between the type of AMI (IHMI vs. OHMI) and clinical outcomes.

## 2. Methods

## 2.1. Study Design, Dataset Description and Data Collection

This is a cross-sectional study using data from The Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (German: Regionales Herzinfarktregister Sachsen-Anhalt, or RHESA). RHESA is a population-based registry including consecutively enrolled patients with AMI (2013–2019) from two regions in the federal state of Saxony-Anhalt, Germany. The study design has been described in detail elsewhere [14,15]. Due to the high mortality of AMI in this federal state (43% above the national average in 2012) [16] RHESA was founded in 2012 with the goal of identifying contributing risk factors and potential targets for intervention to improve health outcomes. It covers the rural region, Altmark, and the urban region, Halle (Saale). Individuals aged 25 years or older are included in the registry.

Three health departments, 16 hospitals, 16 residence registration offices, as well as centers for rescue services, participated in the registry. During hospitalization, trained physicians or study nurses reviewed the medical charts and collected, via a questionnaire, information related to sociodemographic factors, medical comorbidities, medical and procedural treatments, in-hospital complications and discharge status. The questionnaire was developed based on the Berlin Myocardial Infarction Registry questionnaire by Schuler et al. [17]. To track the survival status of AMI patients at 30 days, the study personnel contacted the participating registration offices at different points in time. In case of death, the cooperating health departments shared the death certificates with the RHESA registry. Our analysis, however, included only patients with AMI who arrived alive at a hospital for treatment, from 2013 to 2019. The exclusion criterion was missing information on the main variable of interest, "type of AMI" (N = 193). In Table S1 of the Supplementary Material, we present the characteristics and outcomes of the study population.

The average age at AMI occurrence was 70 years, and it occurred more frequently among males (62%). There was a high prevalence of classical and modifiable AMI risk factors in the study population (85% with hypertension, 51% with hyperlipidemia, 35% with diabetes, and 44% current or former smokers). Saxony-Anhalt is known to have a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors compared to other German federal states [18]. As expected, the majority of the AMI cases in our sample were classified as NSTEMI rather than as STEMI (62% vs. 38%). Around 70% of all included patients who were treated with percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), the 30-day mortality rate amounted to 8.7%.

#### 2.2. Ethical Consideration

RHESA was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg (Nr.: 2020-188) and by the State Data Protection and Privacy Commissioner of Saxony-Anhalt.

#### 2.3. Variables and Outcomes

In this study, we used the "Third universal definition of myocardial infarction" of the European Society of Cardiology, which defined AMI as any rise and/or fall of highsensitivity cardiac troponin by at least one unit above the 99th percentile of the upper reference, accompanied by ischemic signs and symptoms [19]. These include ischemic symptoms, new-onset changes in the ST-segment T wave or new left bundle branch block on the electrocardiogram (EKG), presence of pathological Q waves, new loss of myocardium or abnormality of wall motion identified via imaging, or coronary thrombus as evident on angiography or autopsy. Variables related to AMI type (IHMI or OHMI), AMI classification (STEMI or NSTEMI), shock upon presentation, treatment (aspirin, heparin, P2Y12 inhibitor, GPIIb/IIIa inhibitor, thrombolysis, PCI or bypass surgery) and in-hospital complications (a binary variable defined as having or not having any intubation, another shock, resuscitation, re-infarct, stroke, severe bleeding or need for re-intervention) were collected via questionnaires filled out by medical doctors or study nurses in the hospitals. The questionnaires also included information on the patients' sociodemographic and risk factors, such as age at AMI occurrence (in years), sex, region of residence (Altmark/rural or Halle/urban), body mass index (BMI) that was categorized into four groups (<25, 25-29, 30-35, >35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), smoking status and pre-existing medical conditions (diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, stroke, atrial fibrillation, history of previous MI, chronic kidney disease, peripheral vascular disease and heart failure).

The outcomes were 30-day mortality and occurrence of in-hospital complications.

#### 2.4. Statistical Analysis

Patients were dichotomized based on AMI type (IHMI and OHMI). Categorical variables were reported in the form of frequencies (percentages) and 95% CI of the percentage. Numerical variables were reported in the form of mean (standard deviation) and 95% CI of the mean. Multiple imputation was applied for variables with missing values in more than five percent of all cases, which included body mass index, history of previous AMI, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, chronic kidney disease and smoking status. Using a fully conditional specification method, forty complete datasets were generated based on the rule that the number of imputations should be equal to the percentage of missing cases or greater [20]. Since age could have non-linear associations with the outcomes, a generalized additive model (GAM) using the binomial family was applied to identify variables associated with AMI type (IHMI vs. OHMI) and outcomes (30-day mortality and in-hospital complications). Age showed a non-linear association with AMI type, which is depicted graphically in Figure S1 of the Supplementary Materials.

We identified two inflection points (55 years and 80 years). Therefore, we performed segmented logistic regression to calculate adjusted odds ratios (ORs) for the segments <55 years, 55–80 years and >80 years in model A (dependent variable was AMI type).

For the dependent variables, 30-day mortality and in-hospital complications occurrence, GAM analysis revealed a linear association with age (results not shown). Hence, no segmentation was needed for age in the logistic regression models B and C for the outcomes 30-day mortality and in-hospital complications, respectively. ORs and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were reported. We adjusted for the following confounders: AMI type (in models B and C for 30-day mortality and in-hospital complications), age, male sex, BMI (reference: <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), region (reference: Altmark), AMI classification (reference: STEMI), smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, stroke, atrial fibrillation, history of previous AMI, chronic kidney disease, peripheral vascular disease and heart failure, based on previous studies. All statistical analyses were conducted using R-Studio version 4.2.1, Posit, PBC. Boston, MA, USA [21,22].

#### 3. Results

The number of patients with AMI who were included in the study was 4272. Of those, 487 patients (11.4%) had IHMI, and the remaining had OHMI. Patients with IHMI were

(on average) older than those with OHMI (72.28  $\pm$  12.26 vs. 69.94  $\pm$  13.36 years). There was no difference in the sex distribution between the two groups. Compared to patients with OHMI, patients with IHMI had a higher proportion of the following comorbidities: diabetes, hyperlipidemia, history of stroke, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, chronic kidney disease and peripheral vascular disease (Table 1). The proportion of patients with IHMI among all patients with AMI in the rural region (Altmark) was lower than in the urban region (Halle), at 9.2%, 95% CI: 8.0–10.5 vs. 13.6%, 95% CI: 12.2–15.0, respectively (row percentages, not shown in the table).

Table 1. Distribution of patients' sociodemographic parameters and risk factors based on AMI type.

	OHMI		IHMI	
	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI
Total = 4272	3785 (88.6)		487 (11.4)	
Sociodemographic factors				
Age (years)	69.39 (13.36)	68.97-69.82	72.23 (12.29)	71.1–73.3
Male	2475 (65.4)	63.9-66.9	310 (63.7)	59.3-67.8
Altmark (rural)	1903 (50.3)	48.7-51.9	192 (39.4)	35.2-43.8
Halle (urban)	1882 (49.7)	48.1-51.3	295 (60.6)	56.2-64.8
Risk factors				
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )				
<25	772 (20.4)	19.1-21.7	88 (18.1)	14.8-21.8
25-<30	1911 (50.5)	48.9-52.1	246 (50.5)	45.9-55.0
30-35	864 (22.8)	21.5-24.2	118 (24.2)	20.5-28.3
>35	238 (6.3)	5.5-7.12	35 (7.2)	5.1-9.9
Previous AMI	614 (16.2)	15.1-17.4	86 (17.7)	14.5-21.2
Diabetes	1289 (33.6)	32.6-35.6	202 (41.1)	37.2-45.9
Hypertension	3237 (85.5)	84.4-86.6	411 (84.4)	81.0-87.4
Hyperlipidemia	1976 (52.2)	50.6-53.8	209 (42.9)	38.6-47.3
Stroke	343 (9.4)	8.2-10.0	63 (13.6)	10.2-16.1
Atrial fibrillation	655 (17.9)	16.1-18.5	139 (29.8)	24.7-32.7
Heart failure	795 (21)	19.7-22.3	166 (34.1)	30.0-38.4
Chronic kidney disease	938 (24.8)	23.4-26.2	201 (41.3)	37.0-45.7
Peripheral vascular disease	374 (9.9)	9.0-10.9	101 (20.7)	17.3-24.5
Non-smokers	2117 (55.9)	54.3-57.5	271 (55.6)	51.2-60.0
Smokers	1175 (31)	29.6-32.5	142 (29.2)	25.3-33.3
Former smokers	493 (13)	12.0-14.1	74 (15.2)	12.2-18.6

Numerical variables are presented in the form of mean (standard deviation) and 95% CI of the mean. Categorical variables are shown in the form of frequency (%) and 95% CI of the percentage. SD: standard deviation. CI: confidence interval. OHMI: out-of-hospital myocardial infarction. IHMI: in-hospital myocardial infarction.

NSTEMI was more common in patients with IHMI compared to patients with OHMI (75.4%, 95% CI: 71.4–79.0 vs. 60.3%, 95% CI: 58.8–61.9). Of the total 2650 NSTEMI cases, 367 (13.8%) were in-hospital. Of all the included STEMI cases, 7.4% were in-hospital. In terms of treatment, patients with IHMI received treatment with anti-platelets (aspirin or P2Y12 inhibitor) or heparin less frequently. Nearly 2% of the patients in each group received thrombolysis treatment. A considerably smaller proportion of patients with IHMI were managed with PCI (56.7%, 95% CI: 52.2–61.0 vs. 71.1%, 95% CI: 68.7–71.6 in the OHMI group). The IHMI group had a higher proportion of in-hospital complications (14.6%, 95% CI: 13.5–15.8 vs. 29%, 95% CI: 25.1–33.1]. Considering the main outcome, patients with IHMI had a higher 30-day morality rate than patients with OHMI (12.5%, 95% CI: 9.8–15.7 vs. 8.2%, 95% CI: 7.4–9.2) (Table 2).

	OHMI		IHMI	
	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI
Total = 4272	3785 (88.6)		487 (11.4)	
Aspirin	3158 (83.4)	82.2-84.6	331 (68.0)	63.7–72.0
P2Y12 inhibitor	1548 (40.9)	39.3-42.5	167 (34.5)	30.4-38.8
GPIIb/IIIa inhibitor	26 (0.7)	0.5-1.0	3 (0.6)	0.2-1.06
Heparin	3004 (79.4)	78.1-80.6	321 (65.9)	61.6-70.0
Thrombolysis	73 (1.9)	1.5-2.4	9 (1.8)	0.9–3.3
PCI	2655 (70.1)	68.7–71.6	276 (56.7)	52.2-61.0
Bypass surgery	201 (5.3)	4.6-6.1	36 (7.4)	5.3-10.0
NSTEMI	2283 (60.3)	58.8-61.9	367 (75.4)	71.4-79.0
STEMI	1502 (39.7)	38.1-41.2	120 (24.6)	21-28.6
Complications	554 (14.6)	13.5-15.8	141 (29.0)	25.1-33.1
30-day mortality	312 (8.2)	7.4-9.2	61 (12.5)	9.8-15.7

Table 2. Treatment and clinical outcomes of patients with AMI in Saxony-Anhalt based on AMI type.

Numerical variables are presented in the form of mean (standard deviation) and 95% CI of the mean. Categorical variables are shown in the form of frequency (%) and 95% CI of the percentage. SD: standard deviation. CI: confidence interval. PCI: percutaneous coronary intervention. NSTEMI: non-ST segment elevation myocardial infarction. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction.

Patients with IHMI were 1.92 times more likely to have NSTEMI than STEMI (95% CI: 1.52–2.46) compared to patients with OHMI. In addition, patients with IHMI were more likely to have heart failure, chronic kidney disease and peripheral vascular disease compared to patients with OHMI. Residents of the urban region (Halle) were 1.44 times more likely to experience IHMI than OHMI compared to residents of the rural region (Altmark) (95% CI: 1.14–1.83) (Table 3), consistent with the crude difference in proportions.

<b>Table 5.</b> Factors associated with the odds of Inivit (reference: Onivit): mod
---

Factors	Adjusted OR	95% CI
Age (in years)		
<55	0.99	0.96-1.02
55-80	1.035	0.99-1.08
>80	0.90	0.84-1.097
Male	0.93	0.74-1.16
Body mass index		
(reference group: <25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		
$25 - < 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1.27	0.95-1.69
$30-35 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1.35	0.97-1.87
$>35 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1.34	0.85-2.12
Halle (Altmark as reference)	1.44	1.14-1.83
NSTEMI (reference: STEMI)	1.92	1.52-2.46
Non-smokers	1	
Smokers	1.22	0.92-1.63
Previous smokers	1.12	0.81-1.54
Diabetes	1.11	0.89-1.39
Hypertension	0.86	0.64–1.18
Dyslipidemia	0.74	0.59-0.94
Stroke	1.06	0.76–1.45

#### Table 3. Cont.

Factors	Adjusted OR	95% CI	
Atrial fibrillation	1.24	0.96-1.60	
History of previous AMI	1.11	0.89–1.39	
Chronic kidney disease	1.86	1.6-2.4	
Peripheral vascular disease	1.74	1.59–1.94	
Heart failure	1.16	1.06-1.45	

Variables included in the model: age, male sex, BMI (reference: <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), region (reference: Altmark), AMI classification (reference: STEMI), smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, stroke, atrial fibrillation, history of previous AMI, chronic kidney disease, peripheral vascular disease and heart failure. OR: odds ratio. CI: confidence interval. IHMI: in-hospital myocardial infarction. OHMI: out-of-hospital myocardial infarction. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. AMI: myocardial infarction. AMI: myocardial infarction.

For each of the two dependent outcomes, 30-day mortality and in-hospital complications, we adjusted for medical comorbidities and other confounders in the multivariable analysis. We found that the adjusted odds of 30-day mortality was higher among patients with IHMI compared to patients with OHMI (OR = 1.81, 95% CI: 1.29–2.54) (Table 4). IHMI was also associated with a higher adjusted odds of in-hospital complications (OR = 2.35, 95% CI: 1.84–3.01) (Table 5).

Table 4. Factors associated with odds of 30-day mortality: model B.

Factors	Adjusted OR	95% CI
IHMI (reference: OHMI)	1.81	1.29-2.54
Age (in years)	1.06	1.05-1.08
Male	1.11	0.84-1.45
Body mass index (Reference group: <25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		
$25 - 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1.17	0.84-1.63
$30-35 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1.07	0.72-1.59
$>35 \text{ kg/m}^2$	0.77	0.39–1.51
Halle (Altmark as reference)	1.05	0.80 - 1.40
STEMI (reference: NSTEMI)	2.39	1.84-3.12
Non-smokers		
Smokers	1.40	0.99-1.97
Previous smokers	0.68	0.43-1.10
Diabetes	1.35	1.04-1.75
Hypertension	1.01	0.67-1.52
Dyslipidemia	1.11	0.84-1.48
Stroke	1.63	1.16-2.39
Atrial fibrillation	1.17	0.87-1.58
History of previous AMI	0.79	0.55-1.13
Chronic kidney disease	1.40	1.04-1.88
Peripheral vascular disease	1.38	0.96-1.98
Heart failure	1.20	0.89-1.62

Variables included in the model: AMI type (reference: OHMI), age, male sex, BMI (reference: <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), region (reference: Altmark), AMI classification (reference: STEMI), smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, stroke, atrial fibrillation, history of previous AMI, chronic kidney disease, peripheral vascular disease and heart failure. OR: odds ratio. CI: confidence interval. IHMI: in-hospital myocardial infarction. OHMI: out-of-hospital myocardial infarction. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. NSTEMI: no-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction.

Factors	Adjusted OR	95% CI
IHMI (reference: out of hospital AMI)	2.35	1.84-3.01
Age (in years)	1.02	1.01-1.03
Male	0.90	0.74-1.10
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) (Reference: <25	)	
25-<30	0.92	0.73-1.17
30–35	0.99	0.75-1.31
>35	1.07	0.71-1.61
Halle (Altmark as reference)	1.67	1.35-2.06
STEMI (reference: NSTEMI)	2.35	1.84-3.01
Non-smokers		
Smokers	1.02	1.01-1.03
Previous smokers	0.99	0.86-1.07
Diabetes	0.90	0.74-1.10
Hypertension	1.67	1.35-2.06
Dyslipidemia	2.35	1.84-3.01
Stroke	1.02	1.01-1.03
Atrial fibrillation	0.90	0.74-1.10
History of previous AMI	1.67	1.35-2.06
Chronic kidney disease	2.35	1.84-3.01
Peripheral vascular disease	1.02	1.01-1.03
Heart failure	0.90	0.74-1.10

Table 5. Factors associated with odds of in-hospital complications: model C.

Variables included in the model: AMI type (reference: OHMI), age, male sex, BMI (reference: <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), region (reference: Altmark), AMI classification (reference: STEMI), smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, stroke, atrial fibrillation, history of previous AMI, chronic kidney disease, peripheral vascular disease and heart failure. OR: odds ratio. CI: confidence interval. IHMI: in-hospital myocardial infarction. OHMI: out-of-hospital myocardial infarction. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. NSTEMI: myocardial infarction.

### 4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to identify differences between IHMI and OHMI in terms of risks factors and health outcomes, including both classifications (STEMI and NSTEMI), while avoiding the limitations of previous investigations. For this purpose, we estimated the proportion of IHMI among STEMI and NSTEMI cases managed in the hospitals in the regions of this study, and compared the characteristics, treatments and clinical outcomes between patients with IHMI and those with OHMI.

We found that 11.4% of the AMI cases in our sample were IHMI, with the majority being classified as NSTEMI. Patients with IHMI were older and had more comorbidities than those with OHMI. Additionally, they were less frequently managed with PCI. Patients with IHMI had higher 30-day mortality and higher proportion of complications, which did not change after adjusting for relevant confounders. Previous studies had been conducted to identify the potential cause of IHMI. The majority of IHMI cases among patients hospitalized for non-cardiac conditions were attributed to perioperative AMI [23], contributing to 50% of the cases. The PeriOperative ISchemic Evaluation trial (POISE) involving 23 countries reported a perioperative AMI incidence of 5% within 30 days of the random assignment date to the control or intervention group [24]. Furthermore, some cardiac [25,26], infectious [27,28] and metabolic diseases [29,30], as well iatrogenic causes [31–33], can lead to AMI as an in-hospital complication.

When considering the STEMI cases only, our estimate of in-hospital STEMI (7.4%) was found to be comparable to the results of previous investigations. Similar to our results,

Zahn et al. demonstrated that 7% of STEMI cases treated in hospitals in Germany between 1994 and 1997 were IHMI [11], and Kaul et al. reported that 5% of the STEMI cases included in the California State Inpatient Database were in-hospital [9]. Both of these studies did not include NSTEMI. This is important since IHMI cases often tend to be NSTEMI, as evident in our study (75%) and supported by previous studies. Maynard et al. reported that 9.5% of the IHMI cases in their analysis were initially diagnosed as STEMI, and the remaining 90.5% were diagnosed as NSTEMI [12]. Additionally, Bradley et al. found that 85.4% of the identified IHMI cases in US Veterans Health Administration facilities were classified as NSTEMI [6]. Nonetheless, these proportions should be regarded with caution. Bradley et al. examined the incidence of IHMI in a case-control study, with the control group comprising any hospital admission with a diagnosis different from ischemic heart disease, rather than an OHMI group [6]. Maynard et al. examined the differences between IHMI and OHMI including both STEMI and NSTEMI, with a reported IHMI prevalence of 11.2%, which was similar to our result (11.4%) [12]. However, post-operative IHMI cases, which could contribute to 5% of total IHMI cases, were excluded [12,24,31]. A Swiss study also including both STEMI and NSTEMI used nationwide registry data and identified a substantially lower proportion of IHMI, amounting to 1% only, possibly due to lack of systematic inclusion of this AMI type in the study registry [31]. On the other hand, our analysis included, per design, only those patients who arrived at the hospital alive in the OHMI group. Patients who were found dead and later classified as AMI or who could not be successfully revived and died after their arrival to the emergency department were excluded from the analysis. With respect to the total number of AMI cases, IHMI fraction would be in fact lower.

Comparing the characteristics between patients with IHMI and OHMI, we found that patients with IHMI constituted an older and more comorbid subgroup of patients with AMI. Heart failure, chronic kidney disease and peripheral vascular disease were associated with a higher risk of IHMI, after adjusting for various confounders. This is consistent with the risk factors that were found to be associated with a higher risk of in-hospital STEMI in the multivariable analysis by Kaul et al. [9]. Patients with in-hospital STEMI were 1.7 times more likely to have preexisting heart failure (95% CI: 1.5–1.9), 1.2 times more likely to have kidney failure (95% CI: 1.0–1.3), and 1.5 times more likely to have peripheral vascular disease (95% CI: 1.3–1.6), relative to patients with out-of-hospital STEMI.

Previous studies that included both STEMI and NSTEMI did not perform a multivariable analysis to identify independent risk factors of IHMI. However, they confirmed that older age and comorbidities (such as diabetes, hyperlipidemia, history of stroke, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, chronic kidney disease and peripheral vascular disease) were more common in patients with IHMI, compared to those with OHMI [12,31]. Interestingly, Erne at al. reported that IHMI was more frequent among females, in contrast to our study where we found no difference between the two sexes [31]. We believe that this lowers the risk of bias in our study, given the established differences in the prevalence of AMI risk factors and outcomes between men and women [34,35].

In terms of clinical outcomes, studies including both STEMI and NSTEMI showed that in-hospital complications (in particular, bleeding, cardiogenic shock and cardiac arrest) were more frequent among patients with IHMI compared to those with OHMI [12]. Nevertheless, no adjustment for confounders was performed. We demonstrated that patients with IHMI had a higher adjusted odds of in-hospital complications compared to OHMI patients, even after adjusting for chronic medical comorbidities. The association between IHMI and a higher risk of in-hospital complications was reported in studies including STEMI only. Patients with in-hospital STEMI were at a higher risk of developing shock, major bleeding, stroke and major adverse cardiac events, relative to those with out-of-hospital STEMI [9,23,36]. Considering mortality associated with IHMI, we found that the 30-day mortality rate in patients with IHMI was higher compared to patients with OHMI, even after adjusting for age, comorbidities and EKG classification. This is consistent with the findings of previous studies on the association between IHMI and short-term AMI mortal-

ity, while including both STEMI and NSTEMI. For example, Erne et al. reported a higher adjusted odds of in-hospital mortality among patients with IHM compared to patients with OHMI (OR = 2.4, 95% CI: 1.6–3.4) [31]. Additionally, Maynard et al. found that compared to OHMI, IHMI was associated with a higher in-hospital mortality rate (27% vs. 9%), as well as a higher odds for 30-day mortality after adjusting for medical comorbidities and EKG diagnosis (OR = 2.0, 95% CI: 1.7–2.4) [12].

Four potential explanations have been suggested to justify the worse clinical outcomes among patients with IHMI compared to those with OHMI. First, older age and higher prevalence of pre-existing medical conditions among patients with IHMI are associated with atypical AMI presentations, leading to delays in diagnosis and subsequent treatment [23,36,37]. Second, the worse clinical condition and severity of the primary disease (underlying reason for hospitalization) in patients with IHMI can contribute to higher risks of morbidity and mortality in this group. In our study, we accounted for various confounding comorbidities, but it was possible residual confounding factors remained. Third, patients with IHMI received PCI less frequently than patients with OHMI, potentially contributing to their higher mortality [9]. Unfortunately, information related to coronary angiography and its findings was not available. This could have an impact on the choice of treatment strategy and clinical outcomes. Previous studies including STEMI cases only reported that patients with in-hospital STEMI undergo coronary angiography less commonly comparted to patients with out-of-hospital STEMI [23,37,38]. In addition, a considerably lower proportion of in-hospital STEMI cases (less than 56%) are managed with PCI in comparison to out-of-hospital cases. Despite adjusting for comorbidities and other confounders, patients with in-hospital STEMI were found to have a lower odds of undergoing coronary angiography and PCI [9]. However, when considering only patients who underwent coronary angiography, Jaski et al. found no difference in the proportion of performed intervention between in-hospital and out-of-hospital STEMI cases [38]. As for previous investigations that included both STEMI and NSTEMI, lower proportions of PCI were also reported in patients with IHMI compared to patients with OHMI [12,31]. The most common reason for not performing coronary angiography and subsequent PCI is high bleeding risk, followed by other factors like neurological and cognitive dysfunction, patients' preferences and severe comorbidities (such as pulmonary embolism or bowel ischemia) [23,38]. Another reason is that some IHMI cases result from pathophysiological mechanisms not involving atherosclerotic rupture and thrombus formation, known as type 2 AMI. This may be indicated by the presence of common risk factors between IHMI and type 2 AMI, such as perioperative stress, heart failure arrhythmia and sepsis. In such cases of IHMI, PCI is less often performed [6,39]. Interestingly, a study by Jaski et al. showed differences in factors influencing the ineligibility for PCI between patients with in-hospital and out-of-hospital STEMI [38]. While the risk of bleeding was the most common reason for PCI ineligibility in the in-hospital STEMI group, the most common reason in the out-ofhospital STEMI group was complex coronary artery disease. Regarding NSTEMI, there are currently no available studies comparing the patterns of PCI utilization and differences in ineligibility between in-hospital NSTEMI and its out-of-hospital counterpart.

Finally, in some cases such as perioperative IHMI, patients are admitted to clinical wards other than internal medicine. Medical staff in other wards may be less trained in early recognition of AMI and initiation of the necessary work-up, especially since IHMI is relatively uncommon and its clinical presentation may be atypical, as previously mentioned.

This study has some limitations. Despite substantial effort, no complete coverage of AMIs in the considered regions was achieved. Furthermore, the two regions of Saxony-Anhalt might not provide representative estimates for the federal state. About 33% of the population lives in rural regions in Saxony-Anhalt [40], while in the registry, the rural and urban regions contribute equally. Additionally, there might be some variation among the rural regions in Saxony-Anhalt regarding mortality and likely morbidity of AMI. Another limitation is that our analysis is based on routine clinical data; thus, some inherent problems of data quality and availability, as well as limited standardization, could be present. This

includes information related to the reason for hospitalization is not available. Finally, we could not adjust for the different kinds of coronary lesions identified during coronary angiography, which could influence the outcomes.

Nonetheless, to our knowledge, this is the first study conducted in Germany to assess IHMI, including NSTEMI and STEMI. The substantial sample size and the inclusion of urban and rural regions constitute additional strengths.

### 5. Conclusions

We estimated the proportion of IHMI to be at around one ninth of all AMI cases treated in hospitals based on the data of the regional AMI registry of Saxony-Anhalt, with a 75% chance of being classified as NSTEMI. Previously reported differences in baseline characteristics and treatments, as well as worse clinical outcomes, in in-hospital STEMI compared to out-of-hospital STEMI persist even when including NSTEMI cases. Patients with IHMI in our study tended to be older and had more comorbidities than patients with OHMI. Despite adjustment for these differences, IHMI was associated with a higher risk of in-hospital complications and mortality. This can be a consequence of differences in clinical condition beyond the available information (residual confounding) or difficulties in early diagnosis and proper management of IHMI. In conclusion, our study provides insights on the full spectrum of in-hospital AMI, in both of its classifications, and shows that NSTEMI is the bigger contributor to this medical entity and, thus, may play a bigger role in the clinical course of in-hospital AMI.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/jcm12196305/s1, Table S1: Characteristics and outcomes of the study population. Figure S1: Association between age and AMI type (IHMI vs. OHMI).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.A. and S.L.L.; Methodology, M.A. and R.M.; Software, M.A. and C.W.; Validation, M.A. and C.W.; Formal Analysis, M.A. and D.C.; Investigation, M.A. and D.C.; Resources, J.M.; Data Curation, C.W.; Writing—Original Draft Preparation, M.A.; Writing—Review and Editing, M.A., D.C., J.M., S.L.L. and R.M.; Visualization, C.W.; Supervision, S.L.L. and R.M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** RHESA was funded by Bundesministerium für Gesundheit (Bundesverwaltungsamt), Ministerium für Arbeit, Soziales und Integration des Landes Sachsen-Anhalt; Ministerium für Wissenschaft, Wirtschaft und Digitalisierung des Lande Sachsen-Anhalt; Deutsche Herzstiftung e.V., AOK Sachsen Anhalt, IKK Gesund Plus, Verband der Ersatzkassen e.V. Landesvertretung Sachsen-Anhalt; and Sozialversicherung für Landwirtschaft, Forsten und Gartenbau Kassel. The funders had no role in the preparation of the manuscript or in any decision regarding its submission.

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty at Martin Luther University (06112. 4 May 2020).

**Data Availability Statement:** The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon request.

**Acknowledgments:** We would like to thank the hospitals and staff for cooperating and recruiting patients in the RHESA registry. Additionally, we are grateful to our participants who consented to take part in the study.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

### Abbreviations

AMI	acute myocardial infarction
BMI	body mass index
CI	confidence interval
IHMI	in-hospital myocardial infarction
NSTEMI	non-ST segment elevation myocardial infarction
SD	standard deviation

- STEMI ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction
- OHMI out-of-hospital myocardial infarction
- OR odds ratio

#### References

- Dégano, I.R.; Salomaa, V.; Veronesi, G.; Ferriéres, J.; Kirchberger, I.; Laks, T.; Havulinna, A.S.; Ruidavets, J.-B.; Ferrario, M.M.; Meisinger, C. Twenty-five-year trends in myocardial infarction attack and mortality rates, and case-fatality, in six European populations. *Heart* 2015, 101, 1413–1421. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sagris, M.; Antonopoulos, A.S.; Theofilis, P.; Oikonomou, E.; Siasos, G.; Tsalamandris, S.; Antoniades, C.; Brilakis, E.S.; Kaski, J.C.; Tousoulis, D. Risk factors profile of young and older patients with myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 2022, 118, 2281–2292. [CrossRef]
- 3. Pedersen, L.R.; Frestad, D.; Michelsen, M.M.; Mygind, N.D.; Rasmusen, H.; Suhrs, H.E.; Prescott, E. Risk Factors for Myocardial Infarction in Women and Men: A Review of the Current Literature. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **2016**, *22*, 3835–3852. [CrossRef]
- 4. Wereski, R.; Kimenai, D.M.; Bularga, A.; Taggart, C.; Lowe, D.J.; Mills, N.L.; Chapman, A.R. Risk factors for type 1 and type 2 myocardial infarction. *Eur. Heart J.* 2022, 43, 127–135. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Walters, K.; Rait, G.; Petersen, I.; Williams, R.; Nazareth, I. Panic disorder and risk of new onset coronary heart disease, acute myocardial infarction, and cardiac mortality: Cohort study using the general practice research database. *Eur. Heart J.* 2008, 29, 2981–2988. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Bradley, S.M.; Borgerding, J.A.; Wood, G.B.; Maynard, C.; Fihn, S.D. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes associated with in-hospital acute myocardial infarction. *JAMA Netw. Open* **2019**, *2*, e187348. [CrossRef]
- Peterson, E.D.; Shah, B.R.; Parsons, L.; Pollack, C.V., Jr.; French, W.J.; Canto, J.G.; Gibson, C.M.; Rogers, W.J.; Investigators, N. Trends in quality of care for patients with acute myocardial infarction in the National Registry of Myocardial Infarction from 1990 to 2006. Am. Heart J. 2008, 156, 1045–1055. [CrossRef]
- Yeh, R.W.; Sidney, S.; Chandra, M.; Sorel, M.; Selby, J.V.; Go, A.S. Population trends in the incidence and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction. N. Engl. J. Med. 2010, 362, 2155–2165. [CrossRef]
- Kaul, P.; Federspiel, J.J.; Dai, X.; Stearns, S.C.; Smith, S.C., Jr.; Yeung, M.; Beyhaghi, H.; Zhou, L.; Stouffer, G.A. Association of inpatient vs outpatient onset of ST-elevation myocardial infarction with treatment and clinical outcomes. *JAMA* 2014, 312, 1999–2007. [CrossRef]
- Stehli, J.; Dagan, M.; Dinh, D.T.; Lefkovits, J.; Dick, R.; Oxley, S.; Brennan, A.L.; Duffy, S.J.; Zaman, S. Differences in outcomes of patients with in-hospital versus out-of-hospital ST-elevation myocardial infarction: A registry analysis. *BMJ Open* 2022, *12*, e052000. [CrossRef]
- Zahn, R.; Schiele, R.; Seidl, K.; Kapp, T.; Glunz, H.G.; Jagodzinski, E.; Voigtländer, T.; Gottwik, M.; Berg, G.; Thomas, H. Acute myocardial infarction occurring in versus out of the hospital: Patient characteristics and clinical outcome. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 2000, 35, 1820–1826. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Maynard, C.; Lowy, E.; Rumsfeld, J.; Sales, A.E.; Sun, H.; Kopjar, B.; Fleming, B.; Jesse, R.L.; Rusch, R.; Fihn, S.D. The prevalence and outcomes of in-hospital acute myocardial infarction in the Department of Veterans Affairs Health System. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 2006, 166, 1410–1416. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Freisinger, E.; Fuerstenberg, T.; Malyar, N.M.; Wellmann, J.; Keil, U.; Breithardt, G.; Reinecke, H. German nationwide data on current trends and management of acute myocardial infarction: Discrepancies between trials and real-life. *Eur. Heart J.* 2014, 35, 979–988. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Bohley, S.; Trocchi, P.; Robra, B.-P.; Mau, W.; Stang, A. The regional myocardial infarction registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) in Germany-rational and study protocol. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* **2015**, *15*, 45. [CrossRef]
- Hirsch, K.; Bohley, S.; Mau, W.; Schmidt-Pokrzywniak, A. The RHESA-CARE study: An extended baseline survey of the regional myocardial infarction registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) design and objectives. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 2016, 16, 159. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Federal Health Monitoring. Available online: http://edoc.rki.de/series/gbe-kompakt/5-3/PDF/3\_en.pdf (accessed on 28 March 2023).
- 17. Schuler, J.; Maier, B.; Behrens, S.; Thimme, W. Present treatment of acute myocardial infarction in patients over 75 years—Data from the Berlin Myocardial Infarction Registry (BHIR). *Clin. Res. Cardiol. Off. J. Ger. Card. Soc.* 2006, 95, 360–367. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Stang, A.; Stang, M. An inter-state comparison of cardiovascular risk factors in Germany: Towards an explanation of high ischemic heart disease mortality in Saxony-Anhalt. *Dtsch. Arztebl. Int.* **2014**, *111*, 530–536. [CrossRef]
- Thygesen, K.; Alpert, J.S.; Jaffe, A.S.; Simoons, M.L.; Chaitman, B.R.; White, H.D.; Joint, E. ACCF/AHA. WHF Task Force for Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation* 2012, 126, 202–2035. [CrossRef]
- 20. Hippel, P.V. How to impute interactions, squares, and other transformed variables. Social. Methodol. 2009, 39, 265–291. [CrossRef]
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2022. Available online: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed on 2 March 2023).
- RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. RStudio; PBC: Boston, MA, USA, 2022. Available online: http://www.rstudio.com/ (accessed on 2 March 2023).
- 23. Dai, X.; Bumgarner, J.; Spangler, A.; Meredith, D.; Smith, S.C.; Stouffer, G.A. Acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction in patients hospitalized for noncardiac conditions. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2013, 2, e000004. [CrossRef]

- Devereaux, P.; Xavier, D.; Pogue, J.; Guyatt, G.; Sigamani, A.; Garutti, I.; Leslie, K.; Rao-Melacini, P.; Chrolavicius, S.; Yang, H. Characteristics and short-term prognosis of perioperative myocardial infarction in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery: A cohort study. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 2011, 154, 523–528. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ruddox, V.; Sandven, I.; Munkhaugen, J.; Skattebu, J.; Edvardsen, T.; Otterstad, J.E. Atrial fibrillation and the risk for myocardial infarction, all-cause mortality and heart failure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 2017, 24, 1555–1566. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Slavich, M.; Patel, R.S. Coronary artery spasm: Current knowledge and residual uncertainties. IJC Heart Vasc. 2016, 10, 47–53. [CrossRef]
- Chow, E.J.; Rolfes, M.A.; O'Halloran, A.; Anderson, E.J.; Bennett, N.M.; Billing, L.; Chai, S.; Dufort, E.; Herlihy, R.; Kim, S. Acute cardiovascular events associated with influenza in hospitalized adults: A cross-sectional study. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 2020, 173, 605–613. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kang, Y.; Fang, X.-Y.; Wang, D.; Wang, X.-J. Factors associated with acute myocardial infarction in older patients after hospitalization with community-acquired pneumonia: A cross-sectional study. BMC Geriatr. 2021, 21, 113. [CrossRef]
- Leon, B.M.; Maddox, T.M. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: Epidemiology, biological mechanisms, treatment recommendations and future research. World J. Diabetes 2015, 6, 1246. [CrossRef]
- Reynoso-Noverón, N.; Mehta, R.; Almeda-Valdes, P.; Rojas-Martinez, R.; Villalpando, S.; Hernández-Ávila, M.; Aguilar-Salinas, C.A. Estimated incidence of cardiovascular complications related to type 2 diabetes in Mexico using the UKPDS outcome model and a population-based survey. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 2011, 10, 1–9. [CrossRef]
- 31. Erne, P.; Bertel, O.; Urban, P.; Pedrazzini, G.; Lüscher, T.F.; Radovanovic, D.; Investigators, A.P. Inpatient versus outpatient onsets of acute myocardial infarction. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 2015, *26*, 414–419. [CrossRef]
- Veselka, J.; Hájek, P.; Malý, M.; Zemánek, D.; Adlová, R.; Tomašov, P.; Martinkovičová, L.; Tesař, D.; Červinka, P. Predictors of coronary intervention-related myocardial infarction in stable angina patients pre-treated with statins. *Arch. Med. Sci.* 2011, 7, 67–72. [CrossRef]
- Park, D.W.; Kim, Y.H.; Yun, S.C.; Ahn, J.M.; Lee, J.Y.; Kim, W.J.; Kang, S.J.; Lee, S.W.; Lee, C.W.; Park, S.W.; et al. Frequency, causes, predictors, and clinical significance of peri-procedural myocardial infarction following percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur. Heart J.* 2013, 34, 1662–1669. [CrossRef]
- Anand, S.S.; Islam, S.; Rosengren, A.; Franzosi, M.G.; Steyn, K.; Yusufali, A.H.; Keltai, M.; Diaz, R.; Rangarajan, S.; Yusuf, S. Risk factors for myocardial infarction in women and men: Insights from the INTERHEART study. *Eur. Heart J.* 2008, 29, 932–940. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vaccarino, V.; Parsons, L.; Peterson, E.D.; Rogers, W.J.; Kiefe, C.I.; Canto, J. Sex differences in mortality after acute myocardial infarction: Changes from 1994 to 2006. Arch. Intern. Med. 2009, 169, 1767–1774. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Garberich, R.F.; Traverse, J.H.; Claussen, M.T.; Rodriguez, G.; Poulose, A.K.; Chavez, I.J.; Rutten-Ramos, S.; Hildebrandt, D.A.; Henry, T.D. ST-elevation myocardial infarction diagnosed after hospital admission. *Circulation* 2014, 129, 1225–1232. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Levine, G.N.; Dai, X.; Henry, T.D.; Press, M.C.; Denktas, A.E.; Garberich, R.F.; Jacobs, A.K.; Jaski, B.E.; Kaul, P.; Kontos, M.C. In-hospital ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: Improving diagnosis, triage, and treatment. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2018, 3, 527–531. [CrossRef]
- Jaski, B.E.; Grigoriadis, C.E.; Dai, X.; Meredith, R.D.; Ortiz, B.C.; Stouffer, G.A.; Thomas, L.; Smith, S.C., Jr. Factors Associated With Ineligibility for PCI Differ Between Inpatient and Outpatient ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. J. Interv. Cardiol. 2016, 29, 363–369. [CrossRef]
- Gupta, S.; Vaidya, S.R.; Arora, S.; Bahekar, A.; Devarapally, S.R. Type 2 versus type 1 myocardial infarction: A comparison of clinical characteristics and outcomes with a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Cardiovasc. Diagn. Ther.* 2017, 7, 348–358. [CrossRef]
- 40. Factsheet on 2014–2020 Rural Development Programme for Saxony-Anhalt (Germany). Available online: https://agriculture.ec. europa.eu/system/files/2022-08/rdp-factsheet-saxony-anhalt\_en.pdf (accessed on 2 March 2023).

**Disclaimer/Publisher's Note:** The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

# **Publication 2 (P2)**

**Assaf M**, Costa D, Efremov L, Holland K, Mikolajczyk R. Comparison between Invasive Intervention and Conservative Treatment in Patients with In-Hospital Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2024 Apr 10;13(8):2194.



## Article

## Comparison between Invasive Intervention and Conservative Treatment in Patients with In-Hospital Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study

Mohamad Assaf <sup>1</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Daniela Costa <sup>1</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Ljupcho Efremov <sup>2</sup><sup>(0)</sup>, Karen Holland <sup>1</sup> and Rafael Mikolajczyk <sup>1,\*</sup><sup>(0)</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Institute for Medical Epidemiology, Biometrics and Informatics, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Magdeburger Str. 8, 06112 Halle (Saale), Germany; mohamad.assaf@uk-halle.de (M.A.); An isle cost @uk-halle.de (M.C.)
- daniela.costa@uk-halle.de (D.C.); karen.holland@uk-halle.de (K.H.)
  <sup>2</sup> German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), 69120 Heidelberg, Germany; ljupcho.efremov@dkfz-heidelberg.de
- Correspondence: rafael.mikolajczyk@uk-halle.de; Tel.: +49-345-557-3570

Abstract: Background/Objectives: In-hospital myocardial infarctions (AMIs) are less often treated with invasive intervention, compared to out-of-hospital AMIs. We aimed to identify the determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs and assess its association with mortality, compared to conservative treatment. Methods: This was a cross-sectional study of in-hospital AMIs in The Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt. Patients' characteristics and outcomes were compared based on the treatment strategy (invasive intervention vs. conservative treatment). Logistic regression was performed to assess the determinants of invasive intervention (vs. conservative treatment) and its association with 30-day mortality. Results: Nearly 67% of the patients (259/386) received invasive intervention, and the rest were treated conservatively. Those who were treated with an invasive intervention were younger and had a lower proportion of chronic heart failure than those treated conservatively. Age > 75 years compared to younger patients, pre-existing heart failure, and higher heart rate upon presentation were associated with lower odds of receiving invasive intervention. Hypertension (OR = 2.86, 95% CI [1.45-5.62]) and STEMI vs. NSTEMI (1.96, [1.10-3.68]) were associated with higher odds of invasive intervention. The adjusted odds of 30-day mortality were lower with invasive intervention compared to conservative treatment (0.25, [0.10–0.67]). Conclusions: One-third of the patients with in-hospital AMIs received conservative treatment. Younger age, absence of heart failure, lower heart rate, hypertension, and STEMI were determinants of invasive intervention usage. Invasive intervention had lower odds of 30-day mortality, but longitudinal studies are still needed to assess the efficacy of conservative vs. invasive strategies in in-hospital AMIs.

Keywords: in-hospital AMI; invasive intervention; conservative treatment; risk factors; 30-day mortality

## 1. Introduction

Acute myocardial infractions (AMIs) occurring among patients hospitalized for other conditions, otherwise known as in-hospital AMIs, constitute between 1 and 11% of the total AMI cases managed in hospitals [1–3]. Compared to patients with out-of-hospital AMIs, those with in-hospital AMIs have a higher risk of in-hospital complications, as well as short- and long-term mortality [1–9]. Lower rates of invasive intervention (percutaneous coronary intervention and/or bypass surgery) in patients with in-hospital AMIs may be associated with the worse clinical outcomes observed in this group [1,4,8].

Insights on the determinants of invasive intervention compared to conservative treatment were provided by studies that solely included out-of-hospital AMIs or did not distinguish between out-of-hospital and in-hospital AMIs. These studies [10–15] identified



Citation: Assaf, M.; Costa, D.; Efremov, L.; Holland, K.; Mikolajczyk, R. Comparison between Invasive Intervention and Conservative Treatment in Patients with In-Hospital Myocardial Infarctions: Results from the Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA) Study. J. Clin. Med. 2024, 13, 2194. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm13082194

Academic Editor: Rita Pavasini

Received: 1 March 2024 Revised: 2 April 2024 Accepted: 8 April 2024 Published: 10 April 2024

Copyright: © 2024 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). MDP

patient-related determinants of invasive intervention utilization such as younger age, male sex, and lower heart rate on admission, in addition to the absence of specific pre-existing comorbidities such as stroke, chronic kidney disease, heart failure, and dementia. Moreover, a diagnosis of ST-segment elevation (STEMI) was found to be a determinant of invasive intervention usage compared to non-ST-segment myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) [10,12]. In contrast, less is known about the determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs specifically. Since in-hospital AMIs differ from their out-of-hospital counterpart in terms of associated risk factors, treatments, and consequently outcomes [1–9], it is important to identify the specific patterns of utilization and determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs.

Therefore, we aimed to examine the demographic, lifestyle, and clinical determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs, as well as its association with 30-day mortality. We compared the differences in the baseline characteristics of patients with in-hospital AMIs based on the treatment strategy (invasive vs. conservative) and identified factors associated with the use of invasive intervention. In addition, we assessed the 30-day mortality and post-AMI care of in-hospital AMI cases managed with an invasive vs. conservative strategy.

## 2. Methods

## 2.1. Study Design, Dataset Description, and Data Collection

In this cross-sectional study, we analyzed data from the population-based registry "The Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt" (RHESA). The German federal state Saxony-Anhalt is known to have higher morbidity and mortality of AMIs compared to the other 15 federal states [16]. To identify contributing factors to the worse AMI outcomes and improve cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, the RHESA study was established in 2013. It includes fatal and non-fatal AMI cases occurring among patients older than 25 years, who reside in the urban region "Halle" or the rural region "Altmark" in Saxony-Anhalt [17,18].

Several rescue services centers, sixteen hospitals, and three public health departments participated in RHESA, enabling the identification of AMI cases. Trained physicians and nurses collected, via questionnaires, information related to the baseline characteristics of patients with AMIs, including pre-exiting chronic conditions and sociodemographic factors. In addition, they reviewed medical charts to obtain inpatient information related to the acute treatment of AMIs, complication occurrence, and discharge status of the included patients. Moreover, registration offices participating in RHESA informed the study personnel about the survival status of the included patients at different time points, to track mortality. Data collection was conducted through hospital collection forms (KEB). In the case of a non-fatal event or in-hospital death, a hospital physician or study assistant fills out the KEB based on medical chart review, in an anonymized/non-anonymized manner based on the availability of the consent form. In addition, an emergency protocol for consenting patients is submitted by the emergency doctors in ambulances, with information on symptom duration, arrival times, and emergency services provided during the transport. As for cases of pre-hospital deaths, the participating health departments share the death certificates with RHESA. In addition, those health departments send the last treating physicians or coroners a KEB questionnaire to fill out and submit back to RHESA. To determine the survival status for patients with AMIs who consented to participate in the registry, the registration offices are contacted across different time points. As for deceased patients, the corresponding health department would forward the death certificates to RHESA. Further follow-up studies using telephone interviews for patients participating in RHESA have been conducted since 2014, in order to obtain data about changes in cardiovascular risk factors and utilization of health services as well as cardiac rehabilitation.

In our current analysis, we included exclusively in-hospital AMI cases that were managed at the hospital, between 2013 and 2019. Patients with previous history of AMIs were excluded as only the first AMI occurrence was of interest. Additionally, we excluded pa-

3 of 14

tients with missing values for the availability of a cardiac catheterization laboratory where in-hospital myocardial infraction was initially diagnosed. In cases of transfer, patients with missing values for this variable in either the referring or the receiving hospitals were also excluded. This was conducted to ensure that the reason for opting for a conservative treatment was not the lack of a catheterization laboratory in the treating hospital. The characteristics and outcomes of the included patients are shown in Supplementary Table S1 of the Supplementary Materials.

#### 2.2. Variables and Outcomes

AMIs were defined based on the Third Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction [19], which describes AMIs as changes in the cardiac troponin by at least one unit above the 99th percentile of the upper reference associated with the presence of ischemic signs and/or symptoms. Information regarding the patients' characteristics was obtained via questionnaires filled out by medical doctors or study nurses. This included age at AMI occurrence (in years, we then categorized into above or below 75 years), sex, region of residence (urban area of Halle and rural area of Altmark), height in meters and weight in Kilograms to calculate body mass index (BMI) that we categorized into four groups (<25, 25-29, 30-35, >35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), smoking status (current, former, or never smoker), and comorbidities (presence of hyperlipidemia, hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, heart failure, atrial fibrillation, and/or history of stroke). In addition, the questionnaire included information on heart rate and systolic blood pressure upon presentation, electrocardiogram classification (STEMI vs. NSTEMI), treatments (Acetylsalicylic acid (ASS), P2Y12 inhibitor, heparin, thrombolytic drug, invasive intervention with either percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), and/or bypass surgery), presence of shock upon presentation, onset of in-hospital complications, mortality, and time until death. The last section of the KEB questionnaire included a list of medications (ASS, P2Y12 receptor inhibitor, anticoagulant, ACE/ARB, beta-blocker, and statins), and the physicians or study nurses filling it out would choose the discharge medications for each participant based on the medical chart review. In-hospital complications were defined as having at least one or more of the following: intubation, another shock, re-infarct, stroke, severe bleed, or need for re-intervention. The availability of a cardiac catheterization laboratory in the hospital where the in-hospital AMI was first diagnosed was also collected. In the case of transfer to a second hospital, information on the availability of a catheterization laboratory in the second hospital was also obtained.

The main variable of interest was the treatment strategy: invasive intervention with PCI/bypass vs. no procedure (labeled as conservative treatment). The main outcome was 30-day mortality.

#### 2.3. Statistical Analysis

Patients' characteristics, risk factors, outcomes, and treatments were compared based on the treatment strategy (invasive intervention or conservative treatment). Categorical variables were reported as frequencies (percentages). The numerical variables age and heart rate were reported as the mean (standard deviation). The following variables had missing values greater than five percent: BMI, smoking status, information on comorbidities including chronic kidney disease, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and chronic heart failure. Therefore, multiple imputation via the fully conditional specification method was used. Forty complete datasets were generated based on the rule that the number of imputations should be no less than the percentage of missing cases [20]. One logistic regression model was performed to identify the determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs. Then, a directed acyclic graph (DAG) was constructed using DAGitty software (Version 3.1) [21] (Supplementary Figure S1 in Supplementary Materials) in order to identify the minimum set of covariates to adjust for in the second logistic regression model assessing the association between treatment strategy and the outcome, 30-day mortality.

#### 2.4. Description of Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG)

Since we have not found (to date) studies on the factors associated with the treatment strategy in in-hospital AMIs, we used the results of the first logistic regression model (dependent variable: invasive intervention) to draw associations between the exposure "treatment strategy" and the rest of the variables in a DAG. Associations between the outcome "30-day morality" and the other variables were based on a literature review. The variables included older age, sex, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, BMI, diabetes, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, chronic kidney disease, smoking status, history of stroke, heart rate on admission, and electrocardiogram (EKG) classification. The minimum set of variables to adjust for in the logistic regression analysis for the association between the treatment strategy and the dependent variable (30-day mortality) included age > 75 years, hypertension, heart failure, heart rate, and EKG classification. It is worth mentioning that Generalized Additive Model (GAM) analysis was conducted to investigate the potential non-linear relationship between the continuous variable heart rate and each of the two dependent variables, treatment strategy and 30-day mortality. The results revealed a linear association between heart rate and each of the dependent variables (not shown), thus warranting the retention of heart rate as a linear term in the final logistic regression models. The DAG revealed the following set of minimum variables to adjust for in the association between treatment strategy and 30-day mortality: age > 75 years, hypertension, heart failure, heart rate, and AMI classification (Supplementary Figure S1 in Supplementary Materials). These were entered as independent variables in the second logistic regression analysis to minimize bias in the association between treatment strategy and 30 d mortality.

We reported the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) yielded by the regression models. In the sensitivity analysis, we repeated the regression analyses excluding patients who had an immediate death (within 24 h, N = 13), which we had kept in the initial models to mitigate immortal-time bias, in order to gain more insight into the robustness of our results. Finally, discharge medications for patients who survived beyond 30 days were compared based on the treatment strategy. All statistical analyses were conducted with R-Studio R <sup>®</sup> version 4.2.1 [22,23].

#### 2.5. Ethical Consideration

RHESA was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg (Nr.: 2020-188) and by the State Data Protection and Privacy Commissioner of Saxony-Anhalt. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### 3. Results

The total number of patients with in-hospital AMIs in our sample was 386 (Figure 1). Nearly 67% of the patients underwent an invasive intervention while the rest received conservative treatments. The invasive intervention group was slightly younger than the conservative treatment group ( $70 \pm 12$  years [68.4-71.4] vs.  $75 \pm 12$  years [73.2-77.6]). The proportion of females was slightly higher in the conservative group than in the invasive intervention group (51.1% [42.1-50] vs. 36.6% [30.6-42.3]). There were no differences in the proportions of pre-existing comorbidities between the two groups, with the exception of heart failure. A history of heart failure was less common among patients who were treated with an invasive intervention (25.9% [20.8-30.4] vs. 40.2% [31.9-48.8]). The proportion of patients from the rural area (Altmark) was higher in the conservative treatment group than in the invasive intervention group (59.1% [50.4-67.3] vs. 23.9% [19.1-29.4]) (Table 1).

Two-thirds of the patients in the conservative treatment group (N = 80) were first diagnosed with in-hospital AMIs in hospitals with no available cardiac catheterization laboratory. Of those, eleven died in the same hospital and seven were discharged alive without needing an intervention. The remaining 62 patients were transferred to hospitals with an available catheterization laboratory and still received no intervention. Among patients treated invasively, 30% (N = 78) were first diagnosed with in-hospital AMIs

in hospitals without an available cardiac catheterization laboratory. All of them were transferred to a second hospital with a catheterization laboratory where they received the intervention. There was no difference in systolic blood pressure and heart rate between the two groups. STEMI was diagnosed more frequently in the invasive intervention group than in the conservative treatment group (27.8% [22.6–33.5] vs. 15.0% [9.6–21.2]). There was no difference in the proportion of heparin and thrombolytic medication administration between the two groups. Additionally, there were no major differences in terms of shock upon presentation and in-hospital complications. The outcome 30-day mortality was lower in the invasive intervention group (8.5% [5.6–12.4] vs. 18.9% [13.8–26.4]) (Table 2).



Figure 1. Total number of patients included in the analysis.

Table 1. Distribution of patients' characteristics and risk factors based on treatment strategy.

Total Number of In-Hospital AMIs N = 386	Conservative N =	e Treatment: 127	Invasive In $N = 1$	ervention: 259	
	N (%) or 95% CI Mean (SD)		N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI	
Characteristics					
Age (years)	75.4 (12.7)	73.2-77.6	69.9 (12.4)	68.4–71.4	
Age > 75 years	84 (66.1)	57.6-73.9	111 (42.9)	36.9-48.9	
Female	65 (51.1)	42.1-60	95 (36.6)	30.6-42.3	
Region:					
Halle (urban)	52 (40.9)	32.7-54.3	197 (76.1)	70.6-80.9	
Altmark (rural)	75 (59.1)	50.4-67.3	62 (23.9)	19.1-29.4	
Body mass index group (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )					
<25	21 (16.5)	10.9-23.7	46 (17.8)	13.5-22.8	
25-<30	63 (49.6)	41.0-58.2	135 (52.1)	46.0-58.2	
30–35	30 (23.6)	16.9-31.5	61 (23.6)	18.7-29.0	
>35	12 (9.4)	5.3-15.4	17 (6.6)	4.0-10.1	

## Table 1. Cont.

Total Number of In-Hospital AMIs <i>N</i> = 386	Conservative N = 1	Treatment: 127	Invasive In $N = 1$	tervention: 259
	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI
Smoking Status				
Never smoker	85 (66.9)	58.4-74.7	133 (51.4)	45.3-57.4
Smoker	28 (22.0)	15.5-29.8	89 (34.4)	28.8-40.3
Former smoker	14 (11.0)	6.5-17.3	37 (14.3)	10.4 - 18.9
Pre-existing comorbidities				
Diabetes	53 (41.7)	33.4-50.4	106 (40.9)	35.1-47.0
Hypertension	100 (78.7)	71.0-85.2	222 (85.7)	81.1-89.6
Hyperlipidemia	46 (36.2)	28.2-44.8	94 (36.6)	30.6-42.3
Stroke	20 (15.7)	10.2-22.8	26 (10.1)	6.8-14.1
Atrial fibrillation	35 (27.6)	20.4-35.8	66 (25.5)	20.5-31.0
Heart failure	51 (40.2)	31.9-48.8	67 (25.9)	20.8-30.4
Chronic kidney disease	52 (40.9)	32.7-49.6	91 (35.1)	29.5-41.1

Numerical variables are presented in the form of the mean (standard deviation); 95% CI of the mean. Categorical variables are shown in the form of frequency (%); 95% CI of the percentage. SD: standard deviation. CI: confidence interval.

Table 2. Distribution of inpatien	clinical metrics,	medical treatments,	, and outcomes of	f patients with
in-hospital myocardial infarction	ns based on treati	ment strategy.		

Total Number of In-Hospital AMIs: N = 386	Conservative Treatment: $N = 127$		Invasive Intervention: 7	V = 259
	N (%) or Mean (SD)	95% CI	N (%)	95% CI
	Inpatient clinica	al metrics		
Patient initially found in a hospital with no cardiac catheter laboratory	80 (63)	54.4-71	78 (30.1)	24.8-35.9
If yes, number of patients transferred	11 died in original hospital (5 within 24 h)		0 died in KH1	
catheterization laboratory	7 were discharged home		0 were discharged home	
,	62 were transferred to a hospital with a catheterization laboratory but still received no intervention		78 were transferred to a hospital with a catheterization laboratory where they received intervention	
Heart rate on presentation (beats/min)	88 (23)	84–93	82 (23)	79-86
Systolic blood pressure on presentation (mmHg)	140 (31)	135-146	139 (30)	136-143
STEMI	19 (15.0)	9.6-21.2	72 (27.8)	22.6-33.5
Occurrence of shock upon presentation	7 (5.5)	2.5-10.5	25 (9.7)	6.5–13.7
	Initial medical t	reatments		
ASS	94 (74.0)	65.9-81.0	164 (63.3)	57.3-69.0
P2Y12 inhibitor	51 (40.2)	31.9-48.8	101 (39.0)	33.2-45.0
Heparin	80 (62.4)	53.0-69.4	180 (69.8)	63.7-75.2
Thrombolytic agent	1 (0.8)	0.1–3.6	7 (2.7)	1.2-5.2
	Outcom	es		
In-hospital complications	40 (31.5)	23.9-39.9	73 (28.2)	23.0-33.9
30-day mortality	24 (18.9)	13.8-26.4	22 (8.5)	5.6-12.4

Numerical variables are presented in the form of the mean (standard deviation); 95% CI of the mean. Categorical variables are shown in the form of frequency (%); 95% CI of the percentage. SD: standard deviation. CI: confidence interval. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. ASS: Acetylsalicylic acid.

The multivariable logistic regression analysis for identifying the determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs revealed lower odds with increasing age among patients older than 75 years (adjusted OR = 0.85, 95% CI [0.76-0.94]), as well as with heart failure (adjusted OR = 0.52, 95% CI [0.30-0.90]) and increasing heart rate (adjusted OR = 0.98, 95% CI [0.97-0.99]). Hypertension, however, was associated with higher odds of receiving invasive intervention (OR = 2.86, 95% CI [1.45-5.62]). Compared to in-hospital NSTEMIs, patients with in-hospital STEMIs were 1.96 times more likely to receive invasive intervention (95% CI [1.10-3.68]). After adjusting for other factors, we found that there was no difference in the odds of utilization of invasive intervention between males and females (Table 3).

Table 3. Determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital myocardial infarctions, compared to conservative treatment.

Factors	Adjusted OR	95% CI
Age $\leq$ 75 years	0.99	0.95-1.03
Age > 75 years	0.85	0.76-0.94
Sex (reference: male)	1.16	0.63-2.12
BMI group (reference: <25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		
25-<30	1.54	0.71-3.36
30–35	1.02	0.42-2.44
>35	0.43	0.14-1.33
Smoking status (never smoker)		
Current smoker	1.41	0.66-2.99
Previous smoker	0.97	0.42-2.29
Diabetes	1.34	0.71-2.53
Hypertension	2.86	1.45-5.62
Hyperlipidemia	0.59	0.32-1.12
History of stroke	0.71	0.30-1.69
Atrial fibrillation	1.19	0.63-2.36
Chronic kidney disease	1.95	0.97–3.91
Heart failure	0.52	0.30-0.90
Heart rate	0.98	0.97-0.99
Systolic blood pressure	0.99	0.98-1.01
STEMI (reference: NSTEMI)	1.96	1.10-3.68

Variables included in the model: age (years), sex (reference: male), BMI group (reference: <25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), smoking status (reference: never smoker), diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, history of stroke, atrial fibrillation, chronic kidney disease, heart failure, heart rate on admission, systolic blood pressure on admission, and STEMI classification (reference: NSTEMI). OR: odds ratio. CI: confidence interval. BMI: body mass index. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction.

In terms of the main outcome, invasive intervention was associated with lower odds of 30-day mortality in comparison with conservative treatment (OR = 0.25, 95% CI [0.10-0.67]), after adjusting for relevant confounders. The diagnosis of in-hospital AMIs in hospitals with a catheterization laboratory was associated with higher odds of 30-day mortality compared to hospitals with unavailable catheterization laboratories and subsequent hospital transfer (8.75, 95% CI [2.68-25.39] (Table 4).

The region of residence showed no association with the outcome 30-day mortality.

Considering patients who survived beyond 30 days, the majority in both groups were discharged on ASS. The conservative treatment group had lower proportions of P2Y12 receptor inhibitor, beta-blocker, and statins medications upon discharge. Patients who

were treated conservatively were more commonly discharged on an anticoagulant (37.9% [28.9–47.5] vs. 21.1% [16.3–26.6]) (Table 5).

Table 4. Factors associated with 30-day mortality in patients with in-hospital myocardial infarctions.

Factors	Adjusted OR	95% CI	
Invasive intervention	0.25	0.10-0.67	
Available catheterization laboratory in the hospital where in-hospital AMI was diagnosed (reference: no)	8.75	2.68-25.39	
Urban region (reference: rural)	0.22	0.06-1.20	
Age $\leq$ 75 years	0.28	0.14-3.01	
Age > 75 years	4.60	0.32-6.7	
Hypertension	0.53	0.23-1.37	
Heart failure	1.91	0.84-4.40	
Heart rate upon admission	1.01	0.99-1.02	
STEMI (reference: NSTEMI)	2.85	1.19-6.84	

Variables included in the model: age (years), hypertension, heart failure, heart rate on admission, and STEMI classification (reference: NSTEMI). OR: odds ratio. CI: confidence interval. STEMI: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. NSTEMI: non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction.

Table 5. Comparison of discharge medications of patients who survived beyond 30 days, based on treatment strategy.

Number of Patients Who Survived beyond 30 Days after In-Hospital AMI Onset: N = 340	Conservative Treatment: N = 103		Invasive Intervention: N = 237	
	N (%)	95% CI	N (%)	95% CI
ASS	87 (84.5)	76.6–90.5	216 (91.1)	87.0-94.3
P2Y12 receptor inhibitor	52 (50.5)	40.9-60.0	192 (81.0)	75.7-85.6
Anticoagulant	39 (37.9)	28.9-47.5	50 (21.1)	16.3-26.6
ACE/ARB	68 (66.0)	56.5-74.6	173 (73.0)	67.1–78.3
Beta-blocker	72 (69.9)	60.6-78.1	204 (86.1)	81.2-90.0
Statin	47 (45.6)	36.2-55.3	179 (75.5)	69.8-80.7

Variables are shown in the form of frequency (%): 95% CI of the percentage. ASS: Acetylsalicylic acid. ACE/ARB: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and/or Angiotensin II receptor blocker.

In the sensitivity analysis, we repeated the regression analyses excluding 13 patients with in-hospital AMIs who died within the first 24 h. The determinants of invasive intervention remained the same, except that chronic kidney disease showed an association with the use of invasive intervention (Supplementary Table S2). The factors associated with 30-day mortality remained the same as in the former model (Supplementary Table S3).

### 4. Discussion

In line with previous findings from studies including only out-of-hospital AMIs, we found that the majority of the patients with in-hospital AMIs in our sample were treated with invasive intervention. Similar to what is known for out-of-hospital AMIs, invasive management of in-hospital AMI cases in our study was less common in patients with a higher age, heart failure, and NSTEMI. Our analysis revealed that lower age, hypertension, heart failure absence, lower heart rate, and STEMI were relevant determinants for utilizing invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs. In terms of outcomes, the 30-day mortality in the invasively managed group was lower than that in the conservatively treated group, whereby invasive intervention was associated with a 55% reduction in the odds of 30-day mortality.

Clinical trials and registry studies showed that invasive intervention is the favorable option for patients with stable coronary artery disease (CAD) [10,14,24] due to lower shortand long-term mortality. We also found that patients with in-hospital AMIs who are treated conservatively had higher odds of 30-day mortality, compared to those treated conservatively. However, a recent systematic review showed that there was no difference in post-AMI all-cause mortality between patients treated invasively and those treated conservatively [25], but the rate of major cardiac adverse events (MACEs) was lower with invasive intervention. Due to the low sample size of patients with complications in our study population, we could not confirm the association between the treatment strategy and occurrence of MACEs in the case of in-hospital AMIs. The European Society of Cardiology (ESC) provides guidelines for the acute and long-term management of AMIs. These guidelines are mostly based on studies that included only out-of-hospital AMIs or did not distinguish between in- and out-of-hospital AMIs. In fact, there is currently a lack of standardized protocols for the evaluation and risk stratification of patients with in-hospital AMIs [26]. According to the ESC, the mainstay treatment of STEMI is PCI, performed within 12 h of symptom onset. Coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery may be utilized alternatively in AMI cases complicated by cardiogenic shock or mechanical complications [24,27]. As for non-ST-elevation entities of the acute coronary syndrome, the ESC supports the individual risk stratification of patients and the decision to accordingly opt for invasive intervention vs. conservative treatment [24]. The clarity of these guidelines regarding the default use of invasive intervention in STEMI compared to the need for a caseby-case assessment in NSTEMI could explain why STEMI patients in our sample were more likely to receive invasive intervention, relative to NSTEMI patients. Nonetheless, opting for no PCI in NSTEMI is considered a major risk factor for recurrent ischemic events. Thus, conservative treatment should be restricted to individual cases where the risks outweigh the benefits due to anatomical or clinical reasons. Such cases ought to be managed optimally with antiplatelet medications and secondary prevention, while taking into consideration the prevalent comorbidities [24]. To address the efficacy of conservative treatment vs. invasive intervention in elderly patients with NSTEMI, the British Heart Foundation is currently conducting a prospective and multicentric randomized controlled trial, the SENIOR-RITA Trial [28]. We anticipate that in this group as well, invasive intervention would be more favorable.

In terms of post-AMI management, the ESC recommends triple pharmacological treatment with an oral anticoagulant and dual antiplatelet therapy for the majority of STEMI patients [24,27]. We found that in-hospital AMI patients who were treated conservatively were less frequently discharged on P2Y12 receptor inhibitor, potentially due to an increased risk of bleeding, and especially that these patients were more commonly discharged on anticoagulants. In addition, physicians are recommended to discharge all AMI patients on statins, regardless of the cholesterol levels upon presentation, as this reduces the risk of early and long-term adverse cardiovascular events. The ESC additionally recommends the use of beta-blockers post-AMI (in cases of no contraindications), as well as ACE/ARB in AMI patients with hypertension, heart failure, and/or diabetes [24,27]. Contrarily to this, participants in our study who received conservative treatment were less frequently discharged on beta-blockers and statins, warranting the need for evaluation and optimization of the post-AMI care in this group.

Another interesting finding in our analysis was that patients who were staying in hospitals without a catheterization laboratory when they were initially diagnosed with an in-hospital AMI had lower odds of mortality than patients who were initially diagnosed with an in-hospital AMI in hospitals with available catheterization laboratories. We believe that patients who were initially present in more readily equipped hospitals were more likely sicker and comorbid than those who were present in hospitals not equipped with catheterization laboratories, contributing to higher mortality. One prospective study [29] involving patients with out-of-hospital AMIs showed that the availability of a PCI facility was the strongest predictor of the utilization of PCI as a treatment strategy. Patients who were directly admitted to hospitals readily equipped with PCI laboratories were five times (95% CI [3.6–7.9]) more likely to receive PCI, and this was independent of the time of symptom onset or hospital arrival. Another factor that could play a role in the choice of treatment strategy is the rationality. Evidence on the differences in the outcomes of AMIs between urban and rural regions remains conflicted. On one hand, patients from rural areas might have worse outcomes and higher mortality, potentially due to lower rates of invasive intervention in rural areas [30,31]. On the other hand, some studies found no association between rationality and the outcomes of AMIs [32,33]. Our results were in line with the latter. While the proportion of patients from the rural area was higher in the conservative treatment group, the multivariable analysis showed no association between the region of residence and 30-day mortality.

To understand why some patients with in-hospital AMIs receive conservative treatment despite the guidelines favoring invasive intervention, it is important to consider the various factors that play a role in the choice of the treatment strategy. Previous studies reported that older age and higher heart rate are negative determinants of invasive treatment in patients with AMIs [10,13,14]. We found that among patients with in-hospital AMIs, age (especially among those aged 75 years or older) and heart rate are implicated in the choice of treatment strategy. A high heart rate could be an indicator of hemodynamic instability, which could prompt physicians to avoid the use of invasive intervention. Evidence on the association between sex and the choice of treatment strategy in patients with AMIs is inconclusive. Some studies reported that women diagnosed with acute myocardial infractions are less likely to receive an invasive intervention [10,29]. One study identified an interaction between age and sex, whereby females older than 75 years were found to be equally likely to receive an invasive intervention [34], while another multicenter study reported no influence of sex on the choice of treatment strategy [35]. In our study, we found differences in the crude percentages of females between the two treatment groups, but in the adjusted analysis, we found that sex had no impact on the utilization of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital myocardial infarctions.

In addition, certain comorbidities (mentioned previously) are associated with the underutilization of invasive intervention [10-12,14,15]. Of these comorbidities, only hypertension and the absence of heart failure were relevant determinants of invasive intervention in our analysis of in-hospital AMIs. Interestingly, unlike one study that found that hypertension was associated with conservative treatment in out-of-hospital STEMIs [11], we found that it is associated with higher odds of using invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital AMIs. Another potential determinant for not treating patients with in-hospital AMIs invasively may be multi-comorbidity rather than the presence or absence of specific comorbidities. This may be supported by the fact that the two treatment groups in our sample were homogenous in terms of the prevalence of pre-existing conditions. Negers et al. suggested that multi-comorbidity might be the most prominent clinical determinant in the physicians' decision-making instead of the specific comorbidities, even though there is no clinical evidence to support the benefits of this practice [13]. Moreover, a longer time duration between symptom onset and treatment may be a contributing factor. The ESC recommends the use of conservative treatment as an alternative to invasive intervention in cases where the time from diagnosis of STEMI exceeds 2 h [27]. Given that in-hospital AMIs are more likely to have an atypical presentation and are associated with delayed diagnosis [7-9,26,36], conservative treatment would be a suitable alternative. It is also possible that the pathophysiological mechanisms contributing to in-hospital AMIs are related to a mismatch in oxygen demand/supply not arising from plaque rupture and thrombosis (Type 2 AMI), where invasive intervention would be of little benefit [37]. Finally, the acuity of the concomitant medical condition in patients with in-hospital AMIs might hinder the use of invasive intervention. Unfortunately, adjusting for the severity of the disease was not possible in our study, as this information was not available. It is interesting to point out that one would expect the unavailability of a catheterization laboratory to play a role in opting for a conservative treatment. However, this was not the case in our

sample. We found that the majority of the patients in the conservative treatment group who were initially present in hospitals without catheterization laboratories were transferred to hospitals with a catheterization laboratory but still received no intervention.

The results of our study must be interpreted with caution, due to some limitations. The RHESA covers only two regions in the federal state of Saxony-Anhalt, and mortality and morbidity might vary across the different rural districts in Saxony-Anhalt. This limits the generalizability of our findings. Additionally, the 16 hospitals participating in the registry may differ in terms of the volume and availability of tertiary cardiac health services compared to those not participating. This could have an influence on the treatment decision. Finally, residual confounding could not be eliminated, since other relevant comorbidities, such as cancer and cognitive impairment, as well as the duration of symptoms and data on the use of coronary angiography and its findings, were not collected.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study assessing the determinants of invasive intervention in in-hospital AMIs. The substantial sample size represents the foremost strength of our research, given that in-hospital AMIs are not common. Furthermore, we conducted DAG analysis to identify the minimum set of variables sufficient to reduce bias in the multivariable analysis.

#### 5. Conclusions

One in every three patients with an in-hospital AMI received a conservative treatment, but lower odds of 30-day mortality were observed with invasive intervention. Younger age, absence of heart failure, and STEMI were consistent determinants of invasive intervention use between out-of-hospital and in-hospital AMI cases. The remaining determinants of invasive intervention in out-of-hospital AMIs were not relevant in the case of in-hospital AMIs. Thus, the protocols informing the use of invasive intervention in out-of-hospital AMIs might not be translatable to in-hospital AMIs, prompting the potential need for adaptations of the guidelines. In addition, the long-term post-AMI pharmacological care in patients with in-hospital AMI cases is suboptimal, warranting further examination. Longitudinal studies are required to assess the efficacy of conservative treatment and its long-term effects in patients with in-hospital AMIs, compared to invasive intervention.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/jcm13082194/s1, Table S1: Characteristics and outcomes of patients with in-hospital myocardial infarctions. Table S2: Results of the sensitivity analysis after removing those who died immediately (N = 13) showing determinants of invasive intervention in patients with in-hospital myocardial infarctions, compared to conservative treatment. Table S3: Results of the sensitivity analysis after removing those who died immediately (N = 13) showing factors associated with 30-day mortality in patients with in-hospital myocardial infarction. Figure S1: Directed acyclic graph (DAG) showing the hypothesized association between invasive intervention (exposure) and 30-day mortality (outcome). Description of variable selection in the directed acyclic analysis (DAG): Variables associated with the treatment strategy were identified based on the results of the first logistic regression analysis (dependent variable: invasive intervention and reference conservative treatment), due to the lack of previous studies on predictors of invasive intervention in in-hospital AMI, compared to conservative treatment. The identified factors included: older age (>75 years), heart rate, hypertension, heart failure, chronic kidney disease (CKD) and Electrocardiogram (EKG) classification. Variables associated with the outcome 30-day mortality based on literature review included: older age, sex, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, BMI, diabetes, Atrial fibrillation, heart failure, CKD, smoking status, history of stroke, heart rate on admission and EKG classification. The minimum set of variables to adjust for in the logistic regression analysis for the association between treatment strategy and the main outcome (30-day mortality) included: age > 75 years, hypertension, heart failure, heart rate and EKG classification. It is worth mentioning that Generalized Additive Model (GAM) analysis was conducted to investigate the potential non-linear relationship between the continuous variable heart rate and each of the two dependent variables; treatment strategy and 30-day mortality. The results revealed a linear association between heart rate and each of the dependent variables (not shown),

thus warranting the retention of heart rate as a linear term in the final logistic regression models. CKD: chronic kidney disease; A fib: atrial fibrillation; EKG: electrocardiogram.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.A. and R.M.; Methodology, M.A. and R.M.; Software, M.A. and D.C.; Validation, M.A. and D.C.; Formal Analysis, M.A. and L.E.; Investigation, M.A. and D.C.; Resources, L.E.; Data Curation, K.H.; Writing—Original Draft Preparation, M.A.; Writing—Review and Editing, M.A., D.C., K.H. and R.M.; Visualization, D.C.; Supervision, L.E. and R.M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** Bundesministerium für Gesundheit (Bundesverwaltungsamt), Ministerium für Arbeit, Soziales und Integration des Landes Sachsen-Anhalt; Ministerium für Wissenschaft, Wirtschaft und Digitalisierung des Lande Sachsen-Anhalt; Deutsche Herzstiftung e.V., AOK Sachsen Anhalt, IKK Gesund Plus, Verband der Ersatzkassen e.V. Landesvertretung Sachsen-Anhalt; and Sozialversicherung für Landwirtschaft, Forsten und Gartenbau Kassel. The funders had no role in preparation of this manuscript or any decision regarding its submission.

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** This study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg (Nr.: 2020-188, 4 May 2020) and by the State Data Protection and Privacy Commissioner of Saxony-Anhalt (03.08.2020).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in this study.

**Data Availability Statement:** The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on request.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

#### Abbreviations

AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
BMI	Body mass index
CI	Confidence interval
RHESA	The Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt
NSTEMI	Non-ST segment elevation myocardial infarction
SD	Standard deviation
STEMI	ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction
OHMI	Out-of-hospital myocardial infarction
OR	Odds ratio
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
CABG	Coronary artery bypass surgery
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
ACE/ARB	Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and/or Angiotensin II receptor blocker
DAG	Directed acyclic graph
CAD	Coronary artery disease

#### References

- Assaf, M.; Costa, D.; Massag, J.; Weber, C.; Mikolajczyk, R.; Lückmann, S.L. Comparison between in-hospital and out-of-hospital acute myocardial infarctions: Results from the regional myocardial infarction registry of saxony-anhalt (RHESA) study. J. Clin. Med. 2023, 12, 6305. [CrossRef]
- 2. Erne, P.; Bertel, O.; Urban, P.; Pedrazzini, G.; Lüscher, T.F.; Radovanovic, D.; Investigators, A.P. Inpatient versus outpatient onsets of acute myocardial infarction. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 2015, *26*, 414–419. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Maynard, C.; Lowy, E.; Rumsfeld, J.; Sales, A.E.; Sun, H.; Kopjar, B.; Fleming, B.; Jesse, R.L.; Rusch, R.; Fihn, S.D. The prevalence and outcomes of in-hospital acute myocardial infarction in the department of veterans affairs health system. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 2006, 166, 1410–1416. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Bradley, S.M.; Borgerding, J.A.; Wood, G.B.; Maynard, C.; Fihn, S.D. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes associated with in-hospital acute myocardial infarction. *JAMA Netw. Open* **2019**, *2*, e187348. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Dai, X.; Bumgarner, J.; Spangler, A.; Meredith, D.; Smith, S.C.; Stouffer, G.A. Acute st-elevation myocardial infarction in patients hospitalized for noncardiac conditions. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* **2013**, *2*, e000004. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Garberich, R.F.; Traverse, J.H.; Claussen, M.T.; Rodriguez, G.; Poulose, A.K.; Chavez, I.J.; Rutten-Ramos, S.; Hildebrandt, D.A.; Henry, T.D. St-elevation myocardial infarction diagnosed after hospital admission. *Circulation* 2014, 129, 1225–1232. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Pande, A.N.; Jacobs, A.K. In-hospital st-segment-elevation myocardial infarction: An inside-out approach. Circulation 2014, 129, 1193–1195. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stehli, J.; Dagan, M.; Dinh, D.T.; Lefkovits, J.; Dick, R.; Oxley, S.; Brennan, A.L.; Duffy, S.J.; Zaman, S. Differences in outcomes of patients with in-hospital versus out-of-hospital st-elevation myocardial infarction: A registry analysis. *BMJ Open* 2022, 12, e052000. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zahn, R.; Schiele, R.; Seidl, K.; Kapp, T.; Glunz, H.G.; Jagodzinski, E.; Voigtländer, T.; Gottwik, M.; Berg, G.; Thomas, H. Acute myocardial infarction occurring in versus out of the hospital: Patient characteristics and clinical outcome. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2000, 35, 1820–1826. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Amann, U.; Kirchberger, I.; Heier, M.; Thilo, C.; Kuch, B.; Peters, A.; Meisinger, C. Predictors of non-invasive therapy and 28-day-case fatality in elderly compared to younger patients with acute myocardial infarction: An observational study from the monica/kora myocardial infarction registry. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 2016, 16, 151. [CrossRef]
- Câlmâc, L.; Bătăilă, V.; Ricci, B.; Vasiljevic, Z.; Kedev, S.; Gustiene, O.; Trininic, D.; Knežević, B.; Miličić, D.; Dilic, M. Factors associated with use of percutaneous coronary intervention among elderly patients presenting with st segment elevation acute myocardial infarction (stemi): Results from the isacs-tc registry. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 2016, 217, S21–S26. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kytö, V.; Prami, T.; Khanfir, H.; Hasvold, P.; Reissell, E.; Airaksinen, J. Usage of pci and long-term cardiovascular risk in post-myocardial infarction patients: A nationwide registry cohort study from finland. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 2019, 19, 123. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Negers, A.; Boddaert, J.; Mora, L.; Golmard, J.-L.; Moïsi, L.; Cohen, A.; Collet, J.-P.; Breining, A. Determinants of invasive strategy in elderly patients with non-st elevation myocardial infarction. *J. Geriatr. Cardiol.* **2017**, *14*, 465. [PubMed]
- Puymirat, E.; Taldir, G.; Aissaoui, N.; Lemesle, G.; Lorgis, L.; Cuisset, T.; Bourlard, P.; Maillier, B.; Ducrocq, G.; Ferrieres, J. Use of invasive strategy in non-st-segment elevation myocardial infarction is a major determinant of improved long-term survival: Fast-mi (french registry of acute coronary syndrome). *JACC Cardiovasc. Interv.* 2012, *5*, 893–902. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hvelplund, A.; Galatius, S.; Madsen, M.; Rasmussen, J.N.; Rasmussen, S.; Madsen, J.K.; Sand, N.P.; Tilsted, H.-H.; Thayssen, P.; Sindby, E. Women with acute coronary syndrome are less invasively examined and subsequently less treated than men. *Eur. Heart J.* 2010, 31, 684–690. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Prütz, F.; Rommel, A.; Kroll, L.E.; Lampert, T. 25 Years after the Fall of the Berlin Wall: Regional Differences in Health. 2014. Available online: https://edoc.rki.de/handle/176904/3133/ (accessed on 1 July 2023).
- 17. Bohley, S.; Trocchi, P.; Robra, B.-P.; Mau, W.; Stang, A. The regional myocardial infarction registry of saxony-anhalt (RHESA) in germany-rational and study protocol. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* **2015**, *15*, 45. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hirsch, K.; Bohley, S.; Mau, W.; Schmidt-Pokrzywniak, A. The RHESA-care study: An extended baseline survey of the regional myocardial infarction registry of saxony-anhalt (RHESA) design and objectives. BMC Cardiovasc. Disord. 2016, 16, 159. [CrossRef]
- Bax, J.J.; Baumgartner, H.; Ceconi, C.; Dean, V.; UK, C.D.; Fagard, R.; Funck-Brentano, C.; Hasdai, D.; Hoes, A.; Kirchhof, P. Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2012, 126, 2020–2035.
- 20. Hippel, P.v. How to impute interactions, squares, and other transformed variables. Sociol. Methodol. 2009, 39, 265–291. [CrossRef]
- Textor, J.; Hardt, J.; Knüppel, S. Dagitty: A graphical tool for analyzing causal diagrams. *Epidemiology* 2011, 22, 745. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing; Vienna, Austria, 2022. Available online: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed on 1 July 2023).
- RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R.; RStudio, P.: Boston, MA, USA, 2022. Available online: http://www.rstudio.com/ (accessed on 1 July 2023).
- 24. Hamm, C.W.; Bassand, J.P.; Agewall, S.; Bax, J.; Boersma, E.; Bueno, H.; Caso, P.; Dudek, D.; Gielen, S.; Huber, K.; et al. ESC guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent st-segment elevation: The task force for the management of acute coronary syndromes (ACS) in patients presenting without persistent st-segment elevation of the european society of cardiology (ESC). *Eur. Heart J.* 2011, *32*, 2999–3054. [PubMed]
- Vij, A.; Kassab, K.; Chawla, H.; Kaur, A.; Kodumuri, V.; Jolly, N.; Doukky, R. Invasive therapy versus conservative therapy for patients with stable coronary artery disease: An updated meta-analysis. *Clin. Cardiol.* 2021, 44, 675–682. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Levine, G.N.; Dai, X.; Henry, T.D.; Press, M.C.; Denktas, A.E.; Garberich, R.F.; Jacobs, A.K.; Jaski, B.E.; Kaul, P.; Kontos, M.C. In-hospital st-segment elevation myocardial infarction: Improving diagnosis, triage, and treatment. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2018, 3, 527–531. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Ibanez, B.; James, S.; Agewall, S.; Antunes, M.J.; Bucciarelli-Ducci, C.; Bueno, H.; Caforio, A.L.P.; Crea, F.; Goudevenos, J.A.; Halvorsen, S.; et al. 2017 ESC guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with st-segment elevation: The task force for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with st-segment elevation of the european society of cardiology (ESC). *Eur. Heart J.* 2018, *39*, 119–177.
- Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Trust. The British Heart Foundation SENIOR-RITA Trial. Available online: https:// trialbulletin.com/lib/entry/ct-03052036/ (accessed on 1 July 2023).
- Buiatti, E.; Barchielli, A.; Marchionni, N.; Balzi, D.; Carrabba, N.; Valente, S.; Olivotto, I.; Landini, C.; Filice, M.; Torri, M.; et al. Determinants of treatment strategies and survival in acute myocardial infarction: A population-based study in the florence district, italy: Results of the acute myocardial infarction florence registry (ami-florence). *Eur. Heart J.* 2003, 24, 1195–1203. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Jaehn, P.; Andresen-Bundus, H.; Bergholz, A.; Pagonas, N.; Hauptmann, M.; Neugebauer, E.A.; Holmberg, C.; Ritter, O.; Sasko, B. Contextualising the association of socioeconomic deprivation with hospitalisation rates of myocardial infarction in a rural area in eastern germany. *Rural Remote Health* 2022, 22, 6658. [CrossRef]
- Loccoh, E.C.; Joynt Maddox, K.E.; Wang, Y.; Kazi, D.S.; Yeh, R.W.; Wadhera, R.K. Rural-urban disparities in outcomes of myocardial infarction, heart failure, and stroke in the united states. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2022, 79, 267–279. [CrossRef]
- 32. Abbasi, S.H.; Sundin, Ö.; Jalali, A.; Soares, J.; Macassa, G. Mortality from acute coronary syndrome: Does place of residence matter? *J. Tehran Heart Cent.* 2022, 17, 56–61. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nicolau, J.C.; Owen, R.; Furtado, R.H.M.; Goodman, S.G.; Granger, C.B.; Cohen, M.G.; Westermann, D.; Yasuda, S.; Simon, T.; Hedman, K.; et al. Long-term outcomes among stable post-acute myocardial infarction patients living in rural versus urban areas: Insights from the prospective, observational tigris registry. *Open Heart* 2023, 10, e002326. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rittger, H.; Schnupp, S.; Sinha, A.M.; Breithardt, O.A.; Schmidt, M.; Zimmermann, S.; Mahnkopf, C.; Brachmann, J.; Rieber, J. Predictors of treatment in acute coronary syndromes in the elderly: Impact on decision making and clinical outcome after interventional versus conservative treatment. *Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv. Off. J. Soc. Card. Angiogr. Interv.* 2012, 80, 735–743. [CrossRef]
- Birkemeyer, R.; Schneider, H.; Rillig, A.; Ebeling, J.; Akin, I.; Kische, S.; Paranskaya, L.; Jung, W.; Ince, H.; Nienaber, C.A. Do gender differences in primary pci mortality represent a different adherence to guideline recommended therapy? A multicenter observation. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 2014, 14, 71. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- L'Abbate, A.; Carpeggiani, C.; Testa, R.; Michelassi, C.; Biagini, A.; Severi, S. In-hospital myocardial infarction. Pre-infarction features and their correlation with short-term prognosis. *Eur. Heart J.* 1986, 7, 53–61. [PubMed]
- 37. Sandoval, Y.; Jaffe, A.S. Type 2 myocardial infarction: Jacc review topic of the week. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2019, 73, 1846–1860. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

**Disclaimer/Publisher's Note:** The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

# Press License MDPI "JCM" for P1 and P2

Di 16.04.2024 10:02 jiaying chen <jiaying.chen@mdpi.com> [JCM] (IF: 3.9, ISSN 2077-0383) Promote Your Published Papers

An Assaf, Mohamad

Cc 'jcm@mdpi.com'; huiying.xu@mdpi.com

🕕 Die zusätzlichen Zeilenumbrüche wurden aus dieser Nachricht entfernt.

Dear Dr. Assaf,

Thank you for your email.

Both papers are now available on the website. Please feel free to reference them in your work.

In terms of the indexing, it will take up to five weeks for a paper to be indexed by PubMed or PMC after the paper is published. Here is the indexing timeframe:

- PubMed or PMC: up to 5 weeks after the paper is published

- Scopus or WOS: up to 8 weeks after the issue is released

- All other databases: up to 8 weeks after the issue is released

Thank you for your continued support and contributions to JCM.

Kind regards,

Jiaying Chen Section Managing Editor

# **Publication 3 (P3)**

Assaf M, Lückmann S, Efremov L, Holland K, Costa D, Mikolajczyk R: In-Hospital versus out-of-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2024; 121: in press. DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.m2024.0032

## **Research Letter**

# In-Hospital Versus Out-Of-Hospital Non-ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction (NSTEMI)

Findings of the RHESA Study

Studies on acute myocardial infarction (AMI) have focused on ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) and found that 5–7% of cases occur in the hospital setting (1, 2). Compared to patients with out-ofhospital STEMI, patients with in-hospital STEMI are older, more frequently have chronic comorbidities, and show a higher risk of complications and mortality in the hospital (1, 3). It remains unclear whether these differences also apply to non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI). We set out to answer this question.

## Methods

We used data for the period 2013-2019 from The Regional Myocardial Infarction Registry of Saxony-Anhalt (RHESA). AMI was defined based on the Third Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction from the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). We excluded patients who did not survive until hospital admission, as treatments and 30-day mortality could not be assessed in this case, as well as those with previous AMI, since we were interested only in risk factors associated with the first occurrence of NSTEMI. We compared patients' characteristics, treatment, and outcomes between in-hospital and out-ofhospital NSTEMI. A literature review was conducted to identify (using a directed acyclic graph, not shown) the minimum set of covariables that had to be adjusted for in the logistic regression analysis to assess the association between NSTEMI type and 30-day mortality.

## Results

We identified 2123 cases of NSTEMI in our sample, of which 14% occurred in the hospital setting. Compared to patients with out-of-hospital NSTEMI, patients with in-hospital NSTEMI were more commonly older over 75 years of age and had higher proportions of heart failure, chronic kidney disease, diabetes, and atrial fibrillation.

Patients with in-hospital NSTEMI were less likely to receive acetylsalicylic acid and heparin than persons with out-of-hospital NSTEMI. The proportion of patients receiving invasive intervention was lower in the in-hospital NSTEMI group (61.5% [55.9; 66.9] versus 69.7% [67.6; 71.8]). Crude 30-day mortality was higher for in-hospital NSTEMI than for out-of-hospital NSTEMI (11% [7.9; 15.0] versus 6.5% [5.4; 7.1]) (*Table*). After adjustment the difference was less pronounced (odds ratio = 1.62 [1.15; 2.49]) (*Figure*).

### Discussion

The proportion of AMI occurring in the hospital setting was higher for NSTEMI than for STEMI. The established differences between in-hospital and out-of-hospital STEMI were also observed for NSTEMI. Patients with in-hospital NSTEMI were older and had more comorbidities. Mortality was higher for in-hospital NSTEMI and medicinal treatments and invasive interventions were carried out less frequently, in line with the published findings on STEMI.

To better understand why certain comorbidities may be associated with in-hospital NSTEMI, it is necessary to consider the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms. Type 2 AMI arises from a mismatch in cardiac oxygen demand and oxygen supply that, in contrast to type 1 AMI, does not involve plaque rupture and thrombosis. This can happen especially in perioperative stress, sepsis, chronic kidney disease, cardiac arrhythmias, anemia, heart failure, coronary spasm, etc., particularly in the older population (4). Interestingly, we noticed an overlap between the risk factors for in-hospital NSTEMI that we

#### Table

#### Comparison of baseline characteristics, treatment, and outcomes between patients with in-hospital and out-of-hospital NSTEMI (n = 2123)

	Out of hospital n = 1824 (85.9%)		In hospital n = 299 (14.1%)	
	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Mean (SD)	95% CI
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28.4 ± 4.6	[28.2; 28.6]	28.9 ± 4.8	[28.3; 29.5]
	N (%)	95% CI	N (%)	95% CI
Age ≥ 75 years Female	799 (43.8) 665 (36.5)	[41.5; 46.1] [34.3; 38.1]	164 (54.8) 127 (42.5)	[49.2; 60.4] [38.7; 48.1]
Comorbidities				
Diabetes Hypertension Hyperlipidemia Stroke Atrial fibrillation Heart failure CKD Smoke status – Non-smoker – Smoker – Former smoker	642 (35.2) 1574 (86.3) 944 (51.8) 51 (2.8) 336 (18.4) 333 (18.3) 468 (25.7) 1075 (58.9) 512 (28.1) 237 (13.0)	[33.0; 37.4] [84.7; 87.8] [49.5; 54.09 [2.1; 3.6] [16.7; 20.2] [16.5; 20.1] [23.7; 27.7] [56.7; 61.2] [26.0; 30.2] [11.5; 14.6]	129 (43.1) 257 (86.0) 109 (36.5) 15 (5.0) 87 (29.1) 92 (30.8) 119 (39.8) 175 (58.5) 82 (27.4) 42 (14.0)	[37.6; 48.8] [81.7; 89.5] [31.2; 42.0] [3.0; 7.9] [24.2; 34.4] [25.7; 36.2] [34.4; 45.4] [52.9; 64.0] [22.6; 32.7] [10.5; 18.3]
Treatment and mortality ASA P2Y12 receptor inhibitor GPIIAIIB antagonist*1 Heparin Thrombolytic agent Invasive intervention*2 Thirty-day mortality	1466 (80.4) 626 (34.3) 8 (0.4) 1343 (73.6) 9 (0.5) 1272 (69.7) 118 (6.5)	[78.5; 82.1] [32.2; 36.5] [0.2; 0.8] [71.6; 75.6] [0.2; 0.9] [67.6; 71.8] [5.4; 7.1]	202 (67.6) 115 (38.5) 2 (0.7) 192 (64.2) 3 (1.0) 184 (61.5) 33 (11.0)	[62.1; 72.7] [33.1; 44.1] [0.1; 2.1] [58.7; 69.5] [0.3; 2.7] [55.9; 66.9] [7.9; 15.0]

\*1 Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor antagonist; \*2 PCI/bypass

ASA, Acetylsalicylic acid; BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; CKD, chronic kidney disease; NSTEMI, non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention



Characteristics associated with 30-day mortality for in-hospital NSTEMI compared to out-ofhospital NSTEMI (multivariable logistic regression analysis for all patients with NSTEMI, adjusted for all presented variables; the squares represent adjusted odds ratios, the bars, the 95% confidence intervals).

\*<sup>1</sup> Reference group: out-of-hospital NSTEMI; \*<sup>2</sup> reference group: < 75 years

Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> for adjusted model = 0.18

NSTEMI, Non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention

identified (older age, atrial fibrillation, chronic kidney disease, and heart failure) and some of the triggers of type 2 AMI. This indicates that the pathophysiological mechanisms of in-hospital NSTEMI are more related to type 2 AMI.

The literature shows that in-hospital STEMI has higher in-hospital mortality and 1-year mortality than out-ofhospital STEMI (1, 3). Similarly, we found that the 30-day mortality of in-hospital NSTEMI was nearly two times that of out-of-hospital NSTEMI. The potential explanations include the following:

• The presence of concomitant medical conditions in inpatients with atypical symptoms of AMI may lead to delays in diagnosis and treatment (1, 3).

• Patients with in-hospital NSTEMI are probably not initially treated on cardiology wards, which could further delay treatment.

• There are no guideline recommendations for the management of in-hospital NSTEMI.

In our study, we found that patients with in-hospital NSTEMI were treated suboptimally when considering the ESC guidelines for acute coronary syndrome without persisting ST-segment elevation (5), possibly due to contraindications.

Our study has the following limitations: The analysis is confined to two regions of a single federal state of Germany, and only a fraction of AMI cases in these regions were covered by the registry. Additionally, patients with in-hospital NSTEMI may not be referred to cardiology and may thus be less likely to be included in our data, potentially leading to selection bias. Moreover, we had no information on the time of onset of the AMI during the hospital stay. Finally, a Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> of 18% indicates that the considered variables explain only a small part of the variation in 30-day mortality.

## Mohamad Assaf, Sara Lückmann, Ljupcho Efremov, Karen Holland, Daniela Costa, Rafael Mikolajczyk

Institute for Medical Epidemiology, Biometrics, and Informatics (IMEBI), Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle (Saale) (Assaf, Lückmann, Efremov, Holland, Costa, Mikolajczyk) rafael.mikolajczyk@uk-halle.de

#### Conflict of interest statement

Different phases of the project were financed from 2013 onwards by various health insurance funds, the Federal Ministry of Health, the German Heart Foundation (Deutsche Herzstiftung), the State Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs, and internal funds of Martin Luther University. The authors declare that no further conflict of interest exists.

Manuscript received on 6 September 2023, revised version accepted on 7 February 2024.

#### References

- Kaul P, Federspiel JJ, Dai X, et al.: Association of inpatient vs outpatient onset of ST-elevation myocardial infarction with treatment and clinical outcomes. Jama 2014; 312: 1999–2007.
- Zahn R, Schiele R, Seidl K, et al.: Acute myocardial infarction occurring in versus out of the hospital: patient characteristics and clinical outcome. Maximal Individual TheRapy in Acute Myocardial Infarction (MITRA) Study Group. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 35: 1820–6.
- Stehli J, Dagan M, Dinh DT, et al.: Differences in outcomes of patients with in-hospital versus out-of-hospital ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a registry analysis. BMJ Open 2022; 12: e052000.
- Gupta S, Vaidya SR, Arora S, Bahekar A, Devarapally SR: Type 2 versus type 1 myocardial infarction: a comparison of clinical characteristics and outcomes with a meta-analysis of observational studies. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 2017; 7: 348–58.
- Hamm CW, Bassand JP, Agewall S, et al.: ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute coronary syndromes (ACS) in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2011; 32: 2999–3054.

#### Cite this as:

Assaf M, Lückmann S, Efremov L, Holland K, Costa D, Mikolajczyk R: In-Hospital versus out-of-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2024; 121: 409–10. DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.m2024.0032

# Press License Deutsches Ärzteblatt "DÄB"



Di 16.04.2024 10:04

Anne-Kathrin Wegner -extern- <Wegner@aerzteblatt.de>

AW: Kurzmitteilung/AZ 168-23: In-Hospital versus out-of-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study. DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.m2024.0032

An Assaf, Mohamad

Wenn Probleme mit der Darstellungsweise dieser Nachricht bestehen, klicken Sie hier, um sie im Webbrowser anzuzeigen.

## Sehr geehrter Herr Assaf,

vielen Dank für Ihre Nachricht.

Die Zitierweise bis zum Erscheinen im Heft ist:

Assaf M, Lückmann S, Efremov L, Holland K, Costa D, Mikolajczyk R: In-Hospital versus out-of-hospital non-ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)—findings of the RHESA Study. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2024; 121: in press. DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.m2024.0032

Die Arbeit erscheint erst in Heft 11. Das Erscheinungsdatum ist am 31. Mai. Erst dann wird die Seitenzahl feststehen.

Auch einen Link zu der Arbeit gibt es erst bei Erscheinen.

Sie können dann auch den Artikel als pdf herunterladen, er ist auf der Homepage leicht zu finden (sobald das Heft erschienen ist). Sollten Sie Probleme haben, melden Sie sich zu gegebener Zeit gerne nochmal bei mir.

Ich hoffe, die Informationen helfen Ihnen weiter.

Ich wünsche Ihnen alles Gute für die Dissertation.

Mit freundlichen Grüßen

Anne-Kathrin Wegner

## 6 Declarations of independence

- (1) I declare that I have not completed or initiated a doctorate procedure at any other universities.
- (2) I declare that all information given is accurate and complete. The thesis has not been used previously at this or any other university in order to achieve an academic degree.
- (3) I declare under oath that this thesis is my own work entirely and has been written without any help from other people. I complied with all regulation of good scientific practice and I used only the sources mentioned and included all the citations correctly both in word or content.

Halle (Saale), 13.07.2024

Mohamad Assaf

# 7 Declarations of previous dissertation attempt

I declare that this work is the first attempt of writing a dissertation. Also, I declare that this work is exclusively submitted as a dissertation for the Medical Faculty of Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg.

Halle (Saale), 13.07.2024

Mohamad Assaf

# 8 Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all those who supported me throughout my journey towards obtaining the Dr. rer. medic degree:

- Prof. Dr. Rafael Mikolajczyk, for his unwavering supervision, guidance, support, and trust throughout my doctoral studies.
- apl. Prof. Dr. Andreas Wienke, for his support, guidance, and trust in my capacity as a seminar instructor.
- Dr. Sara Lena Lückmann for her invaluable understanding, mentorship, and support in the writing and preparation of the publications.
- Dr. Ljupcho Efremov, for his significant contributions as a co-author on the publications and for reviewing the draft of this thesis.
- PD Dr. med. habil. Amand Führer, for his valuable inputs in reviewing the draft of this thesis and for the informative discussions.
- Daniela Costa, Karen Holland, and Janka Massag for their constructive criticism and feedback during the writing process of the publications.
- Sarah Negash, for her exceptional support and companionship as an officemate, colleague, and friend.
- Warm and special gratitude to all the team members at the Institute for Medical Epidemiology, Biometrics and Informatics (IMEBI) for the enlightening and enriching discussions, and for all the wonderful unforgettable memories.
- I would like to acknowledge the support provided by the technical and administrative staff at IMEBI.
- Special thanks to all the study participants as well as the study team who made this research work possible.
- I dedicate this work to my beloved parents, siblings, and friends who served and continue to serve as my strongest support system.